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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Ry 2

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B 2024331 HIFF/ZE
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Revenue increased from approximately HK$541.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$585.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase of
approximately HK$43.5 million or 8.0%.

Gross profit decreased from approximately HK$65.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$41.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$23.7 million or 36.1%.

The Group recorded a profit and total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: approximately HK$49.3 million).

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK1.9 cents for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: approximately HK5.7 cents).

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a
final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GC
Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
present the consolidated annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2024, together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31
March 2023.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing Date”) by
way of share offer (the “Share Offer”) (the “Listing”). The Group
is a wet trades contractor in Hong Kong. The wet trades works
performed by the Group mainly included plastering, tile laying, brick
laying, floor screeding and marble works.

Revenue increased from approximately HK$541.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$585.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024. This represented an increase
of approximately HK$43.5 million or 8.0%. The Group embarked
on several significant projects that proved to be key contributors
to the company’s revenue, these projects spanned across various
sectors and exemplified the Group’s diverse capabilities. The
key projects undertaken by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 include the redevelopment projects at Kwai Chung
Hospital, projects related to the Kai Tak Development, projects
related to the LOHAS Park Development, a residential project in
Tai Wo Ping and a residential project in Kam Sheung Road. From
large-scale infrastructure development to innovative real estate
development, each project played an important role in driving the
Group's success and strengthening its position in the market. These
projects showcased the Group's expertise in delivering high-quality
developments in both the public and private sectors.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERH/E

The Group has experienced a decrease in gross profit margin due
to the volatility of the real estate market. The instability in property
prices has adversely affected the number of new wet trade works
projects and contracts available to tender during the year. Companies
engaged in wet trade works are now faced with heightened
competition as they strive to secure limited projects and contracts.
The intense market competition has led to a huge pressure on the
Group's tender price and profit margin for its newly awarded projects
during the year ended 31 March 2024, where the Group had to
lower its tender price in order to secure new contracts, thereby
putting pressure on the profit margin of the wet trade works industry.
Such competitive environment has made it challenging for the Group
to maintain high profit margin. Further, the decreasing trend in
property prices have also resulted in a reduction in the budget to the
ongoing projects. Faced with tightened budget, main contractors
may tend to exercise prudence in assessing the progress of the
ongoing projects to avoid over-budget. This, in turn, led to a decrease
in the gross profit margin of some of the Group’s ongoing projects
and adversely affected the financial performance of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group participated in the
Labour Importation Scheme for the Construction Sector, commonly
known as the Construction Sector Scheme. This scheme, supported
by the government, has played a significant role in alleviating the
shortage issue faced by the Hong Kong wet trade works industry.
Historically, the industry has encountered challenges owing to a
scarcity of skilled workers. However, with the importation of labour,
the wet trade works industry has gained access to a larger pool of
labour resources, effectively addressing the gaps created by the
labour shortage. The increased availability of labour has bolstered
the industry’s workforce reserve, resulting in enhanced efficiency in
project execution.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 61 projects (2023: 53 projects)

on hand with backlog value of approximately HK$564.8 million
(2023: approximately HK$621.5 million).
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PROSPECTS

The volatile real estate market in Hong Kong has posed significant
challenges for the wet trade works industry in the region. To mitigate
risks and explore new opportunities, the Group has established a
subsidiary with the aim of exporting its expertise in wet trade works
to Southeast Asian countries. Cambodia, with its rapidly growing
economy and expanding infrastructure development, has emerged
as an appealing destination for the Group to pursue overseas
business opportunities. Venturing into this new market will enable
the Group to diversify its revenue streams. In addition, the Group is
also expanding into the fitting-out works sector in Hong Kong. By
diversifying into fitting-out projects, the Group can tap into a distinct
market segment and leverage its existing resources, including skilled
labour and project management capabilities, while adapting its
expertise to meet the specific demands of fitting-out works.

These initiatives will enable the Group to navigate the challenges
of the real estate market and position itself for long-term success.
Exploring wet trade works in Cambodia and fitting-out projects in
Hong Kong will not only diversify the Group’s services but also reduce
its dependence on wet trade works in Hong Kong.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
management of the Group and all the staff for their hard work and
dedication, as well as its shareholders, business associates and other
professional parties for their support throughout the period.

Chan Kiu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RS T

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue increased from approximately HK$541.6 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$585.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase of
approximately HK$43.5 million or 8.0%. The increase in revenue
was mainly driven by the increase in the amount of works performed
by the Group in some of the ongoing sizeable projects, including
the redevelopment projects at Kwai Chung Hospital, projects related
to the Kai Tak Development, projects related to the LOHAS Park
Development, a residential project in Tai Wo Ping and a residential
project in Kam Sheung Road.

Cost of Services

The cost of services mainly comprised subcontracting fees, cost of
materials and toolings and direct labour costs.

The cost of services increased from approximately HK$476.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$543.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase
of approximately HK$67.2 million or 14.1%. The increase in cost
of services was caused by the increase in the amount of works
performed by the Group.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately HK$65.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$41.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$23.7 million or 36.1%. The decrease in gross
profit was primarily attributable to the volatility of the real estate
market. The instability in property prices has adversely affected the
gross margin of the wet trade works.

The gross profit margin was at approximately 7.2% and 12.1% for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Other Income

The other income decreased from approximately HK$18.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$0.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$18.6 million. Such decrease was primarily
attributable to the recognition of the government grant from the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-Epidemic Fund of
approximately HK$18.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
while the Group did not receive such government grant for the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs,
entertainment expenses, depreciation, motor vehicles expenses,
insurance and legal and professional expenses.

The administrative expenses remained stable at approximately
HK$20.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
approximately HK$20.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
respectively.

Finance Income, Net

The net finance income increased from approximately HK$0.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$2.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such increase was
mainly due to the increase in interest income from short-term bank
deposits.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense decreased from approximately HK$7.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$3.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 as there is a decrease in
assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for the
Year

The profit and total comprehensive income for the year decreased
from approximately HK$49.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing decrease of approximately HK$30.3 million or
61.3%. Such decrease was mainly driven by the decrease in gross
profit and other income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group needs to maintain a solid liquidity for working capital to
support the Group’s business operations. The principal sources of
liquidity are equity capital, cash generated from operations and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2024, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with net current assets balance of approximately
HK$321.7 million (2023: approximately HK$303.6 million),
comprising cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$31.9
million (2023: approximately HK$47.9 million) and short-term bank
deposit of HK$50 million (2023: HK$50 million), respectively. The
cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
10 October 2022. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Company since then. As at 31 March 2024, the capital
structure of the Company comprised mainly issued share capital and
reserves.

Bank Borrowings

The bank borrowings was nil as at 31 March 2024 and
approximately HK$5.6 million as at 31 March 2023. Such term loans
were dominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear interest at floating
rates.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio was calculated as total borrowings (i.e. bank
borrowings) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting
dates. The gearing ratio was nil as at 31 March 2024 as there was
no outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024. The gearing
ratio was approximately 1.8% as at 31 March 2023.

Net Debt to Equity Ratio

Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as net debts (i.e. bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity
as at the respective reporting dates.

The net debt to equity ratio was not applicable as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 as the Group had net cash position as at both dates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred capital
expenditures of approximately HK$3.4 million (2023: approximately
HK$2.5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND
COMMITMENTS

The Directors confirm that as at the date of this report, the Group
did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any pledge of assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of the business transactions and assets and liabilities of the
Group are principally denominated in Hong Kong Dollar. As such,
the Directors consider the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is
insignificant and no foreign exchange hedging was conducted by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, short term bank
deposit, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, accruals and
other payables and lease liabilities. The management manages such
exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 89 employees (2023: 77
employees) who were directly employed by the Group and based
in Hong Kong. The Group offers remuneration package to the
employees which includes salary and bonuses. Generally, the Group
considers employees’ salaries based on each of their qualifications,
position and seniority. The Group has an annual review system
to appraise the performance of the employees, which constitutes
the grounds of the decision as to the salary raises, bonuses and
promotions. The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the
Board upon the recommendation from the remuneration committee
of the Company having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of remuneration of employees and Directors during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 7 and
8 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period up to the date of this report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2022.

The amount of gross proceeds from the Share Offer is HK$125
million and the amount of net proceeds from the Share Offer
is approximately HK$91.8 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and the expenses relating to the Share Offer (the “Net
Proceeds”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Net Proceeds will be used in the manner consistent with that as
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
of the Company’s prospectus dated 23 September 2022 (the

“Prospectus”), details of which are as outlined below:

EEEWED T

SR IBF RS SRR E AN R A 8§ 5202249
A23HMBIRER([BRER [ KRB AT
BRERAR | —SHEEE SN AREH &
BB T

Utilised
amount Unutilised
since the amount of  Expected
Intended Listing Date Net Proceeds timeline for
use of and up to asat the use of
Net Proceeds 31 March 2024 31 March 2024  Net Proceeds
BLHAH 20245
FRERE £2024%F 3ANAME BARE
FREN 38318% FIEEEN  REFEN
Purposes Ly BERZ Bk REAEE FEHNER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEBT BEAT

Financing the up-front costs AA%EETE B R ATHR A 67.0 67.0 - NA
of the Group’s projects RHtES NEA

Expanding the Group’s BRASEANKEE 9.9 6.9 3.0 March 2025
manpower and leasing SINHAE (FiEa) 2025737
an additional office
(Note a)

Purchasing machinery and 5 B 28 ;B & 2.7 2.7 - NA
motor vehicles NEF

Procuring an enterprise RECXERAE 19 - 1.9  March 2025
resources planning (-0 ) 2025737
("ERP") system (Note b)  Z & (Fitith)

Purchasing planks and fE B AR REEHRUIA 14 1.0 04  March 2025
toe-boards to further E—HIEREE 2025737
strengthen the Group's MBERZ S
occupational safety

The Group's general AEEN-—REEES 8.9 8.9 - NA
working capital NEF

Total st 918 86.5 5.3

Notes: BitEE -

(a) Despite the Group's efforts in actively recruiting and interviewing
potential candidates, the expansion of the Group’s manpower was
delayed because the Group was unable to find suitable candidates.

However, the Group will continue to recruit potential candidates.

(b) The use of procuring an enterprise resources planning system was
delayed as the Company needed more time to conduct search on ERP

system and negotiate with the service providers of ERP system.

() BEAKEBNINEBRBEREREEREA
BHRAEERGERFSENREA - BIEERE
RAEEAT - A - AEEBEERSEEIR
EA o

(b)) BERAARFZEZREECEERAEIRGE
TRRIECEERIIRZGREHHE - B
RBEEERA S RGNERITE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmES T

As at the date of this annual report, there was no further change for
the intended use of Net Proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus, as at the date of this report, the Group
did not have other plans for material investments and capital assets.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

RAFHRAY - BRERMEENSTRER

EXRREREREENARNRE

BRI E AR RORET &I R PR SFOR MR | — &R P i
BEIN MAREEH  AEEABSEARENR
BAREEMEMEE -

Hﬁ/%\
EESE A TEREREE2024F3 73181
FEMRRE (202345 : &) ©
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, aged 66, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum also serves as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group. He is
the chairperson of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for the
overall management, formulation of business strategies, project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited (“Wai Wai Prestige”),
Ying Ying Company Limited ("Ying Ying"), Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited (“Chan Kiu”) and Ying Wai (Chan
Kiu) Construction Engineering Co., Limited (“Ying Wai"). He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Wing Ping and the father of Ms. Chan
Chui Ying.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has over 30 years of experience in the wet trades
works industry. From June 1988 to December 1997, he worked as
a foreman at a wet trades works contractor with his last position
as manager. He was the sole proprietor of Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering from February 1998 to February 2013. Since
July 2005 and October 2007, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been a director
of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu, respectively.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum completed the special training course for
Hong Kong and Macao committee members held by the
Business School of Nankai University in the PRC in April 2018.
He was a vice president (8] € &) of the Hong Kong Construction
Sub-Contractors Association from July 2015 to June 2017.
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been appointed as the president
and the honorary president of The Association of Plastering
Sub-Contractors Limited from May 2015 to October 2022 and
since November 2022, respectively. Since October 2020, Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has become the founding executive vice president of the
Registered Specialist Trade Contractors Federation. Since January
2023, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has become the president of the Shenzhen
Baoan Shajing Natives Association (HK).

Mr. Chan Wing Ping, aged 63, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. He is primarily responsible for the overall project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige, Ying Ying, Chan Kiu and Ying Wai. He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and an uncle of Ms. Chan Chui
Ying.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Chan Wing Ping has over 20 years of experience in the wet
trades works industry. From January 1996 to December 1997, he
worked as a foreman at a wet trades works contractor. He then
worked at Chan Kiu Construction Decoration Engineering as a
foreman from February 1998 to February 2013. Mr. Chan Wing Ping
has been a director of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu since July 2005 and
October 2007, respectively.

Mr. Chan Wing Ping completed the safety supervisor course offered
by the Industrial Centre of the School of Professional Education and
Executive Development of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
January 2001. He has been appointed as a council member of The
Association of Plastering Sub-Contractors Limited since May 2015.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying, aged 28, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 5 February 2024 and was the corporate
promotion, administration and human resources manager of the
Group since February 2018 and has been responsible for the sales
and marketing and administration of the Group. Ms. Chan Chui
Ying is the daughter of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and a niece of Mr. Chan
Wing Ping.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying has over 5 years of experience in sales and
marketing. Ms. Chan Chui Ying was an account executive of Ginger
Advertising Limited from September 2015 to June 2016. She
worked at Meitu (China) Limited as a marketing and public relations
executive from June 2016 to February 2018.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying graduated from Pierce College in Washington,
the United States, with an associate’s degree of arts in June 2013.
She then obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in communication
from the University of Washington in the United States in June
2015. In October 2019, Ms. Chan Chui Ying completed the online
credential of readiness program in business analytics, economics for
managers and financial accounting organised by Harvard Business
School. Ms. Chan Chui Ying completed (a) a 43-hour programme of
construction safety supervisors in August 2022; and (b) a 52-hour
course in construction specialist trades management and a 21-hour
course in project management training series for sub-contractors
in November 2021, both organised by the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Huang Hong, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. She is the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Huang has over 15 years of experience in corporate finance
and corporate governance. From January 2003 to March 2004,
she worked at the representative office of Stevenson, Wong & Co.
in Guangzhou as China business consultant. From April 2004 to
November 2005, she practised at Drew & Napier LLC in Singapore
as a registered foreign lawyer. Dr. Huang was a visiting lecturer
and a lecturer at the School of Accounting and Finance of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from January 2006 to May 2007
and from May 2007 to June 2015, respectively. From October
2018 to November 2021, Dr. Huang was the senior manager of
the commercial and corporate finance department of Stevenson,
Wong & Co.. Since January 2020, she has been a part-time visiting
lecturer at the School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Since December 2021, Dr. Huang has been
a compliance director of Metalpha Holding (HK) Limited (formerly
known as Long Yun International Holdings Limited). Since January
2022, Dr. Huang has been a part-time compliance director of SW
Management Limited.

Dr. Huang graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in the PRC with
a bachelor’s degree of laws in June 2000. She further obtained
a master’s degree of laws from the University of Liverpool in the
United Kingdom in December 2002 and a master’s degree of
corporate finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2009. In October 2019, Dr. Huang obtained a doctor’s
degree of philosophy from the School of Law of the City University
of Hong Kong. Dr. Huang is qualified as a PRC lawyer in April 2001.

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is the chairperson
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Yu has over 15 years of experience in advisory, accounting,
taxation and auditing. Mr. Yu joined RSM Nelson Wheeler as staff
accountant in June 2005 and left as manager in June 2014. From
June 2014 to May 2015, he worked at Niche-Tech (Hong Kong)
Limited (which is a subsidiary of Niche-Tech Group Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8490))
as chief accountant with his last position as financial controller.
Since June 2015, Mr. Yu has been the financial controller of Tactful
Building Company Limited. Mr. Yu founded Yu Chi Wing CPA
(Practising) and JR & Co., Certified Public Accountants in March
2015 and September 2016, respectively. He also co-founded
Emerald Capital CPA & Co. in May 2021.
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Mr. Yu has been an independent non-executive director of (i)
Fameglow Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8603) since September 2018; (ii) Wah Wo
Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 9938) since December 2019; and (iii)
WellCell Holdings Co., Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2477) since December 2023.

Mr. Yu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in June 2005. He has been
a member and a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2012 and March 2015,
respectively.

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Lo has over 10 years of work experience. He joined Wealth
Property Agency Limited as an account executive in December 2007
and is currently its managing director. He was an assistant instructor
from September 2012 to August 2013, a part-time instructor from
September 2013 to January 2014 and from February 2017 to
June 2017, and a part-time college lecturer from February 2018
to June 2018, from February 2019 to June 2019, from February
2020 to August 2020, and from January 2021 to June 2021, at
the Lingnan Institute of Further Education, Lingnan University.
He was also a guest lecturer of The Education University of Hong
Kong from January 2017 to June 2017. Dr. Lo was an honorary
assistant professor in the School of Arts and Social Sciences of The
Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as the Hong Kong
Metropolitan University) from August 2019 to August 2022.

Dr. Lo was an independent non-executive director of Wang Yang
Holdings Limited (currently known as Central Holding Group Co.
Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1735) from March 2018 to October 2019. He has been
an independent non-executive director of Yield Go Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1796) since December 2018.

Dr. Lo graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in physical education and recreation
management in November 2007. He further obtained a master’s
degree of science in international banking and finance and a
master’s degree of philosophy in economics from Lingnan University
in October 2009 and October 2011, respectively. In November
2019, Dr. Lo obtained a doctor’s degree of philosophy in physical
education from the Hong Kong Baptist University.
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Dr. Luk Che Chung, /7, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director with effect from 5 February 2024, is among
the first batch of medical graduates from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1986. He holds a master’'s degree of public
administration from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Luk is also
the Member of Faculty of Public Health since 2016. He has been
a healthcare executive in the public sector since 1990 with a wide
range of exposure and track record in managing complex and
large healthcare systems, crisis management, human resources
management, corporate governance, corporate communications
and media management, quality and risk management and business
development. He has solid experiences of working with senior
professionals, media and regulatory bodies, government officials,
politicians and people on all fronts, both inside and outside the
healthcare sector. During his 10 years of services at the Hospital
Authority Head Office, Dr. Luk was responsible for the annual
planning of overall operations, service and facilities planning,
development of specialist clinical services, liaison with the social
sector and community, hospital operations and quality management.
Dr. Luk is currently the vice-chairman of Virtus Medical Group
Limited. Since 1999, Dr. Luk worked as a hospital chief executive,
managing various public hospitals at different times, the main ones
being Kwong Wah Hospital, United Christian Hospital and Queen
Mary Hospital. Since 2005, he also served as the cluster chief
executive of Kowloon East Cluster for 4 years and then Hong Kong
West Cluster for 9 years. Dr. Luk was appointed as the cluster chief
executive of Hong Kong East Cluster and the hospital chief executive
of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital, Wong Chuk Hang
Hospital and St. John Hospital in October 2018. He was responsible
for the management of 9,000 staff with a recurrent budget of over
HK$8 billion, and the operation of seven hospitals and 12 general
outpatient clinics providing acute and comprehensive medical
services to a population of 0.8 million. In November 2021, Dr. Luk
retired from the Hospital Authority. He worked as the deputy chief
executive officer for Your Health Specialists Medical Group Limited
from November 2021 to September 2022. In September 2023, Dr.
Luk was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
ECI Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8013). Over the years, Dr. Luk has been
involved in various community work, including the Medical Council,
The Community Chest of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service, other various community and non-governmental
organisations, and teaching in some tertiary institutions. In recent
years, Dr. Luk has been directly involved in the Community
Housing Movement and the Modular Housing Initiative. Dr. Luk
was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong SAR
Government in 2019, and received the Distinguished Medical Alumni
Award from the Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Wai Hung, aged 37, is the project manager of the Group
and is responsible for overseeing and managing project execution
and operation of the Group.

Mr. Lai has over 10 years of experience in the wet trades works
industry. He joined the Group as a part-time site worker in June
2006 and was promoted as site foreman in July 2012. Mr. Lai has
further been promoted as project manager in November 2020.

Mr. Lai completed his secondary education in June 2003. He further
completed the two-year full time basic craft course in bricklaying,
plastering and tiling held by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in August 2005. He then completed the safety supervisor
training course and the 3-day metal scaffolding supervisor course
organised by the Hong Kong Human Resources Ltd. in October 2007
and December 2007, respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). During the year ended 31 March 2024, save as disclosed
below, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code and, where applicable, the recommended
best practices of the CG Code.

According to the code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
has appointed Mr. Chan Kiu Sum as both the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Considering that Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has been operating and managing the Group since 2005,
the Board believes that vesting the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer in Mr. Chan Kiu Sum would enable the Group to
achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness when
formulating business strategies and executing business plans. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently
maintained by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors (including
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum) and four independent non-executive Directors
and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The Board will nevertheless review the structure and composition of
the Board from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in
order to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices
of the Company.

CULTURE AND CORPORATE STRATEGY

The corporate value of the Company is acting in lawful, ethical and
responsible manner. The Group is dedicated to deliver quality and
attentive wet trade works to its customers and put the health and
safety of its employees and workers as top priority.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the required standard
for securities transactions by Directors. All Directors, after specific
enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies of the Group, the nomination and appointment
of Directors, and to ensure the availability of resources as well
as the effectiveness of its system of internal control. The senior
management was delegated the authority and responsibilities by
the Board for the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also established Board committees
and has delegated to these Board committees various duties and
responsibilities as set out in their terms of reference respectively.
Each Director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith in compliance with the standard of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including three Executive Directors and four Independent non-
executive Directors. Details of the Board composition by category are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping

Ms. Chan Chui Ying (appointed on 5 February 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Huang Hong

Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu

Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp (appointed on 5 February 2024)

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15 to 20 of this
annual report.

The appointment of Ms. Chan Chui Ying as the Executive Director
and Dr. Luk Che Chung, s as the Independent non-executive
Director were effective on 5 February 2024. Ms. Chan Chui Ying
and Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp had obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 2 February 2024 and they
confirmed that they understood their obligations as a Director of the
Company.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group'’s affairs.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly and at least four times
a year, and the Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written
notice of such meetings in compliance with paragraphs C.5.1 and
C.5.3 of part 2 of the CG Code. The company secretary of the
Company assists the chairman to prepare the meeting notice and
agenda. Each Director may include any item in the agenda. The
agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with sufficient and reliable
information, are sent to each Director at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to enable the directors to
make informed decisions on the matters to be discussed, except
where a Board meeting or committee meeting is convened on a very
urgent basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter. The company
secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings. Additional Board meetings will
be convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any
Director who is not able to attend physically may participate at any
Board meeting through means of a telephone or tele-conferencing
or any other telecommunications facility, in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, one general meeting was
convened and four Board meetings were held and the attendance of
each Director is set out below:

HZE2024F3A31BILEFE  ARBIEAR—X
BERARSUARBANIEESES  MEEEZ
HEERSHNT

Board Meeting
Attended/Held

General Meeting
Attended/Held

HE CHESY HE BRERE
=N REGRIH
Executive Directors PITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum FRABAR T 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Wing Ping Rk TS 4/4 11
Ms. Chan Chui Ying FRE2 &/ NE
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R2024F2 A5 HEZ(T) 0/0 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors BN FEHITESE
Dr. Huang Hong ELi 4/4 11
Mr. Yu Chi Wing EEREA 4/4 11
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESIEL 4/4 171
Dr. Luk Che Chung, J» PEEIAEE L - A7t
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R2024%2 A5 HEZ(T) 0/0 0/0

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Director has entered into a service agreement
for a term of three years with the Company which renewed and
extended automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless
otherwise terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior written notice. Each of the Independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter for
a term of one year with the Company which renewed and extended
automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless otherwise
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one
month'’s prior written notice. In accordance with Article 108 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation and re-election. Each Director shall retire
from office at least once every three years. In accordance with
Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed
by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office until the following general meeting
(in the case of filling a causal vacancy) or the next following annual
general meeting (in the case of an additional Director) and shall then
be eligible for election.
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Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The following
mechanisms are adopted by the Board to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board, and these mechanisms
are reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1. The Board must have at least three Independent non-Executive
Directors and must appoint Independent non-Executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. On an annual basis, all Independent non-Executive Directors
are required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules, and
to disclose the number and nature of offices held by them
in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

4.  The chairman of the Board meets with Independent non-
Executive Directors annually without the presence of the
Executive Directors.

The Board considered that the above mechanisms were effective
during the year under review.

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered that
the Independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules. Upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee,
the Board considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in the
said Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant and in compliance with paragraph C.1.4
of part 2 of the CG Code, the Company would arrange and fund
suitable continuous professional development for the Directors to
participate in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The training each Director received during the year ended 31
March 2024 is summarised as below:

EEREERER

AEREEHEHSSSEHNBERBERNEE
REIFLEEATUNE _HHFECI14ER AN
AEAEELTH2 NG ENBERHEEBITIR
HES  UBRREMBHEMLEMELE - REE
2024F3A31BIEFE  SESEZNEIIN
M

Reading
Attending seminars/ newspapers,
in house workshops journals and
relevant to the other relevant
Group'’s business, materials regarding
Listing Rules, regulatory update
regulatory and and corporate
statutory updates governance matters

smEE HESH
AEBEEK EERHMELR
LEHRA - EER TEEREEN
EEBHIERE HRE - TR
Mg AIIES  HtaEM R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRIGAR T v v
Mr. Chan Wing Ping BRoK TS v v
Ms. Chan Chui Ying BRERZ/NMA
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R20244F2 75 A EZAT) v v
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Dr. Huang Hong EHET v v
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE v v
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESEL 4 v
Dr. Luk Che Chung, BEEEEA - 4 TFHt
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R20244F2 75 A EZAT) v v
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BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach of which the Board could
achieve a higher degree of diversity. The Company recognises the
benefits of having a diversified Board. In summary, the Diversity
Policy sets out that when considering the nomination and
appointment of a director, with the assistance of the Nomination
Committee, the Board would consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to the skills, knowledge, professional experience
and qualifications, cultural and educational background, age,
gender and diversity of perspectives that the candidate is expected
to bring to the Board and what would be the candidate’s potential
contributions, in order to better serves the needs and development
of the Company. The Diversity Policy also seeks to attract, retain
and motivate the Directors and other staff from the widest pool of
available talent. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Diversity Policy and
discussed the above measurable objectives and agreed that these
measurable objectives were achieved for the diversity of the Board
which contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company. The Board will take opportunities to
increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting
and making recommendation on suitable candidates for board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance
of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best practices,
with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors
who have direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with
different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group's strategy.

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board, which included
two female members. Due to the industry nature of the business as
wet trades works contractor and the prevailing gender dominance
in the industry, the Board currently comprises five male Directors
(71.4%) and two female Directors (28.6%), whereas the senior
management comprises one male member. The Group target to
maintain the percentage of female directors in the Board no less
than 28% in the next three years. The Company values gender
diversity, including but not limited to (i) continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company and to
develop a pipeline of potential successors, including but without
limitation at the Board; and (ii) consider the possibility of nominating
female management staff who has necessary skills and experience to
the Board.
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The Group strictly adheres to fair and appropriate employment
practices and labour standards. With an anti-discriminatory and
equal-opportunity policy in place, the Group provides job applicant
and employees with equal opportunities of employment and
promotion, and prohibits all forms of discrimination on gender,
religion, race, disability or age. Due to the industry nature of the
business as wet trades works contractor and the prevailing gender
dominance in the industry, as at 31 March 2024, 14 out of 89
employees (including senior management) of the Group are female,
representing approximately 15.7%. The Group target to maintain
the percentage of female employees in the Group’s workforce of no
less than 15% in the next three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with terms of reference to assist them in the efficient
implementation of their functions.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and code provision D.3.3 of part 2 of the CG Code pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 13 September 2022. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems
and audit process of the Company and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing, Dr.
Huang Hong, Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, s, all being
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Yu Chi Wing is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a
year. Details of the authority and duties of Audit Committee are set
out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit A TNAEXZESREE2024F3A31BILFE
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024: FrnsT TYEREE -

— reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated interim  —
financial information for the six months ended 30 September
2023 and the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2023, the interim report for the six months
ended 30 September 2023 and annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2023, the related accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the report from the
management on the Company’s review of the risk management
and internal control systems, and recommendation of the
appointment and re-appointment of the external auditor;

—  reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company’'s  —
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems;

— reviewed the nature and scope of the non-audit services —
provided or to be provided by external auditor and assessed the
respective implication on the auditor’s independence; and

—  reviewed the report communicated by the external auditor for — —
matters including the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings.

EHHE2023F9 8308 IE A A ARKEE
ZEBAAR A A S E R R B 2202343 A
318 IEFE 2R A MHHmR REE20239F9
A308 1<l A Z R EisR S RE £2023F
3AMALFEZFIR - REEMEMNEE
SHRALERE  EEEBHAQGZER
ERRASEERARITREUALERE
F R ABTE NI AZ BRAD

R ARAPBERRS - RREEREA
ERE R R AR RBE S AR

o il SR A BT 2 1 3 S B2 (R R0 IR AT AR
BHHE NEE - ARG AR
HAERRE - &

EMINEZBMERNRE - ARBREE
FTEVEBIBE MRS RIARBEREAER -

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit EZgHEBEXREES Y BEEIMNIZEITS
Committee regarding the appointment of external auditor. WA E R AW

During the year ended 31 March 2024, two Audit Committee E{Z2024F3A31HILFE » BEREZEERITT
meetings were held and the attendance of each committee member WX &% © KRB &K E 2 HEDHEIT

is set out below:

Number of
Attendance
R B
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES

Dr. Huang Hong EHUET 2/2
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 2/2
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESEL 212

Dr. Luk Che Chung, PEEIREE A - A Fm+
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R2024F2 A5 A EZ(T) 0/0
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 of part 2 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration. At
present, the Remuneration Committee comprises Dr. Huang Hong,
Mr. Yu Chi Wing and Dr. Luk Che Chung, /7, being the independent
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive
Director. Dr. Huang Hong is the chairperson of the Remuneration
Committee.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least
once a year. Details of the authority and duties of Remuneration
Committee are set out in the Remuneration Committee’s terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024:

—  reviewed the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management; and

—  made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
individual Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each
committee member is set out below:

FMEES
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ERHEEZYRARNEESETAIHM - B
Bl FNEZEEmBYIERTESTRUBL - T
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PRIBARSEAEAK - BB T EITFMEES

}‘g °
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IWTAHFHNEZEeNEE2024F3A31HILFE
BrEn{T TVEREE -

— ERESLSRERENHFH &

- BERNEERSREEENFHAESS
TR -

FAAEEEZFMULTEESHMALTZH
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Number of
Attendance
HERE
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRI R A& 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors BIUKHITES
Dr. Huang Hong = HLT 2/2
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEREE 2/2
Dr. Luk Che Chung, FeEIREE A - xras
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R2024%F2 F5HEZ(T) 0/0

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT



Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band during the year ended 31 March 2024
is set out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

BECEEATINE _LHFEISE  BHE
2024F3A3MHIEFERREEEKE (TR
BRI NHEERZI ST

Number of
person(s)

AB

HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

Remuneration Policy of the Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Group’s remuneration policy of the Directors is built
upon the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration package that support the performance culture and
enable the achievement of strategic business goals. The Group’s
remuneration policy of Directors is, therefore, aiming at providing
competitive but not excessive remuneration package to the
Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee
and variable components (such as bonus and share options), which
is benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale
with reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market
condition, the Company’s performance and the qualifications, skills,
experience and educational background of the Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision B.3.1 of part 2 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are, among others, to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and select or make
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. At present, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive Director, Dr. Huang Hong, Dr.
Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, /r, being the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once
a year. Details of the authority and duties of Nomination Committee
are set out in the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024:

—  reviewed the board diversity policy; and

- reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive

T ARAEZESENEHE2024F3A31HIEFE
Fr# /T TIERLE -

- EHEFEUEZTLEHE &

— WEEMEITESR B -

Directors.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, two Nomination Committee ~ #ZE2024F3831HILFE - BREEBSRTT
meetings were held and the attendance of each committee member WX €% @ FZE K8 2 HELRHOT ¢
is set out below:
Number of
Attendance
HERE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum BRIBFREE 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors BYFBITES
Dr. Huang Hong EHUET 2/2
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESEL 212
Dr. Luk Che Chung, PEEIREE AL - A Fm+
(appointed on 5 February 2024) (R2024F2 A5 A EZ(T) 0/0

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the approach and procedures the Board
adopts for the nomination and selection of Directors, including
the appointment of additional Directors, replacement of Directors,
and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee has
been delegated with the overall responsibility for implementation,
monitoring and periodic review of the policy, and the summary of
which is set out below:

Nomination Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship,
the following criteria would be considered by the Nomination
Committee and the Board:

—  the candidate’s character and integrity;
— the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity

aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;
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any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination
procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable Director candidates, including referral from
Directors, shareholders, management, advisors of the Company
and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates
for consideration by the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board based on the selection criteria and such other factors
that it considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority
on determining suitable Director candidate for appointment.
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Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

i.  Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring Director
will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

i.  Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting
must lodge with the company secretary of the Company within
the lodgement period specified in the relevant shareholder
circular (a) a written nomination of the candidate, (b) written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of his willingness
to stand for election, and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The policies of Anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy are
contained in the section headed "Anti-corruption” on page 100 in
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing and has performed in
compliance with the corporate governance duties as set out in the
CG Code which includes develop and review the Group's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board; review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management;
review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; develop, review and monitor

ERESRRRESR

i REBEZFNMEERUMEBEESML AR
REEGR /SAEEFSHERL (WRRE
B EBEZRLMREEENRRASG LE
BEE - RIFEETRY - —DEBEZRLER
EEFZEHER ZBRBRBRKE A
FERTHR

i WARBMEMBREREERZE—ATRE
RASE2EESE  QIZANBBRIEXR
%ﬁﬁf*%@ﬁﬁ$ A2 R AIMEIR

(QFEARBE OZBIFEBAZEER
EZ%ME' ﬁﬁimﬁ%ﬁm&%
ﬁﬁAZEE#FO#k%F%AZﬁ@
1S FE 7 EREAERE o

RES R R BHRHE

REFBEREBEBRERRERARFREI100E] &
BI5HOR | —&f e

EEARAE

ExgARaRTACETRITEEEATRIM
HEXERBL - SRS MedAEEERL
EERNBRIELAESSFELERRS
%F‘ﬁ& CREERSRER BRI RHEEE
EEER  wa REEAKEERNTAARRE
%%ﬁfﬁﬁ"ﬂﬂl RERER  BIET - et RESEAR
BTIREENTRATARERFMAAE) : Uk
BHAKEHEEREARTRNARBARALE

the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to B AMRENRIEEEE -
employees and directors; and review the Group’s compliance with

the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The statement by the auditor of the
Company about their responsibilities for the financial statements is
set out in the independent auditor’s report contained in this annual
report. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt of the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable for the year ended 31 March
2024 to the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is
set out as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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EERMBRREAENSRE
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RNt EL I ISR AR E R AR BRI N ARF
BABIAZBENRE - EEABREEFRIBER
MBEATHEARE KT A RE AR RIRHER 28T
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T

HK$'000
Services rendered to the Group m A B RE FHT
Audit services FETART 1,700
COMPLIANCE ADVISER SRR

The Company has appointed Grande Capital Limited as the
compliance adviser pursuant to Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules for
the term commencing on the Listing Date and ending on the date
on which the Company publishes annual report in respect of the
financial results for the first full financial year commencing after
the Listing Date. Such appointment may be subject to extension by
mutual agreement.

Pursuant to Rule 3A.23 of the Listing Rules, the Company shall seek
advice from the compliance adviser on a timely basis in the following
circumstances:

—  before the publication of any regulatory announcement,
circular or financial report;

—  where a transaction, which might be a notifiable or connected
transaction, is contemplated, including share issues and share
repurchases;
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—  where the Company proposes to use the proceeds of the
Listing in a manner different from that detailed in the
prospectus or where business activities, developments or results
of the Company deviate to a material extent from any forecast,
estimate, or other information in the prospectus; and

— where the Stock Exchange makes an inquiry of the Company
regarding unusual movements in the price or trading volume of
the Shares.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls and risk management of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal control and risk
management systems to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
the Group's assets. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group through
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in the
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through
the Audit Committee are kept informed of significant risks that may
impact on the Group’s performance.

The Audit Committee has received the risk management and internal
control evaluation reports prepared by the external internal control
review consultant. The reports summarised information relating to
the work carried out in the following areas:

1. the results of selective testing of internal control procedures,
operation, and the financial records of the Company;

2. a general evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems installed by the Company; and

3. an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the
year under review.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports and discussed
with the management of the Company. The Audit Committee
acknowledged that the management of the Company has been
progressively implementing adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to ensure the effective
functioning of the Company’s operations. The Board is therefore
of the view that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are effective and adequate. The review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group would
be done on an annual basis. Although, the Group does not have
an internal audit function having considered the complexity of
the Group’s operation, the Board considers that the review on
the risk management and internal control systems by the Audit
Committee and the Board on a regular basis as well as engaging
external internal control review consultant to review the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems would be
sufficient to ensure the effective operation of the Group. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Following the resignation of Mr. Choi Wan Sang Vincent with effect
from 12 June 2023, Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 12 June 2023. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo has over
15 years of experience in the related fields of finance, auditing,
accounting, corporate governance practices and company secretarial
matters, and possesses the requisite qualification and experience
as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo
obtained a bachelor degree of commerce (accounting and finance)
and a master degree of applied finance from Monash University of
Australia in December 2005 and December 2006, respectively. He is
a member of the Certified Public Accountants Australia and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo has confirmed that he has undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2024 in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") of the
Company are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the Articles
of Association of the Company:

1. One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings may,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. The EGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within
21 days of such deposit of requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Raising Enquires

1. Shareholders should direct their enquires about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong by post to 2103B, 21st Floor, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

2. Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestion to the
Directors and management of the Company and can be
addressed to the Company by post to Unit 909, 9th Floor,
Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

3. Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together

with their detailed contact information for the prompt response
from the Company if it deems appropriate.
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Procedures and Contact Details for Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

1.

To put forward proposals at the general meeting of the
Company, a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/
her/its proposal (“Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact
information at the Company’s principal place of business at
Unit 909, 9th Floor, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833
Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company.

The identity of the shareholder and his/her/its request will be
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong and upon confirmation by the branch share registrar that
the request is proper and in order and made by a shareholder,
the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at the annual general meeting or an EGM varies
according to the nature of the Proposal as follows: (i) At least
21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in an EGM or if the Proposal is put
forward at an annual general meeting of the Company; or (ii)
At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company at an EGM.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
its shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings, issuing to its shareholders corporate
communications such as interim results and annual results, financial
reports, announcements and circulars in accordance with the Listing
Rules. Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company through
channels of the Company’s corporate website www.chankiu.hk and
provide comments and recommendations to the Directors. Upon
receipt of enquiries from shareholders, the Company will respond as
soon as practicable.

Please refer to the website of dissemination of corporate
communications and the request form for printed copies of the
annual reports, interim reports and circulars. Shareholders are
encouraged to provide their up-to-date contact details (including
electronic contact details) to the branch share registrar of the
Company in order to facilitate timely and effective communications.

The annual general meeting provides a platform for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of
the Board as well as the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer questions at shareholders’” meeting.

The Company considers that it establishes effective communication
channels with its shareholders through its website and the annual

general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no change to the
constitutional documents of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated with limited liability in Cayman
Islands on 28 April 2020.

Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme (the “Reorganisation”) to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the Listing,
the Company became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 17 November 2020.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus. The Shares
were listed on the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing
Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
its operating subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of
wet trades works in Hong Kong. There were no significant changes
to the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 March
2024.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 120.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue contributed by
the largest and the top five customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 19.4% (2023: approximately 23.8%) and
approximately 72.2% (2023: approximately 71.5%) of the Group's
total revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s cost of
services from the largest and the top five suppliers accounted for
approximately 6.4% (2023: approximately 5.3%) and approximately
18.5% (2023: approximately 19.4%) of the Group's total cost of
services, respectively.
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To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
under Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the
section headed “Connected and Related Party Transactions” in this
report, none of the Directors, their respective close associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company), had any interest in any of the Group's top five customers
or suppliers.

EMPLOYEES

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees.
The Group has not experienced any significant problems with
its employees or any disruption to the operations due to labour
disputes nor have the Group experienced any material difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced core staff or skilled
personnel during the year ended 31 March 2024. There has not
been any trade union set up for the Group’s employees.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES
Customers

The Group has maintained good relationships with its major
customers. The Group values the relationships with its customers as
it believes that maintaining good relationships with them is crucial
to the success of the business. The long-term working relationship
can help the Group to understand the demands of its customers in a
timely manner and also increase its visibility in the wet trades works
industry in Hong Kong. The Directors consider that maintaining
good relationships with its customers would increase the chance of
being invited to tender or quote for the forthcoming projects, which
is conducive to securing a steady stream of projects for the Group.
The Group strives to monitor manpower, machinery and material
distribution in all projects in response to the customers’ demands.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

The Group has established stable business relationships with its
suppliers and subcontractors which is essential to the smooth
operation of the Group’s business, as the Directors consider that
timely delivery of materials and provision of labour assistance can
enable the Group to meet the schedules of its customers. The Group
has also maintained a list of approved suppliers and subcontractors
which is periodically reviewed and updated based on the internal
assessment of their performance, to ensure that all works performed
by the suppliers and subcontractors satisfy the requirements of the
relevant contract.
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Employees

The Group maintains a cooperative and good relationship with its
management and employees in providing competitive remuneration,
staff welfare and benefits. In general, the Group reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of its employees on a
periodical basis by reference to, among other things, the market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of its employees and the performance of the
employees and the Group.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its financial performance and financial
position are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” set out on pages 8 to 14 of this annual report. This
discussion forms an integral part of this report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The future development of the Group’s business is set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects” set out on
pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as far as the Directors are
aware, the Company did not have any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that is material or systemic in nature.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a contractor specialising in wet trades works, the Group values
environmental sustainability and has been striving to integrate the
concept into every part of the daily business operations. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental, social and
governance strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for
the Group’s ESG risk management and internal control systems to
ensure that the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met.
Discussion on the Group's environmental policies and performances
are set out on pages 62 to 111 in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 123 and Note
26 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately HK$82.2 million (2023: HK$82.2 million) calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

DONATIONS

Donation of amount approximately HK$0.2 million was made by
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which aims to set out
the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits, as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company. The Board adopted
the dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends,
the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Board has the discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to
the provisions of the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the factors of the Group
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends such
as operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, capital expenditure, future development requirements,
business conditions and strategies, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends, and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
or period as interim dividend, final dividend, special dividend, and
any distribution of profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The executive Directors believe that there are certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations. Some of the material risks
include:

(i) most of the revenue during the year ended 31 March 2024
was derived from projects awarded by a limited number of
customers and any significant decrease in the number of
projects with the major customers may materially and adversely
affect the financial performance;

(i) the revenue is mainly derived from projects which are non-
recurrent in nature and there is no guarantee that the
customers will provide the Group with new businesses;

(i) unsatisfactory performance by the subcontractors or
unavailability of subcontractors may adversely affect the
operation and profitability; and

(iv) any material inaccurate cost estimation or cost overruns may
adversely affect the financial results.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme (as defined below) the Company
did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 March 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31
March 2024.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 21 to 40 in this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping
Ms. Chan Chui Ying (appointed on 5 February 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Huang Hong

Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu

Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP (appointed on 5 February 2024)

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, Ms. Chan Chui Ying, Mr. Yu
Chi Wing, Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, s, will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has
received annual confirmations of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors required Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Upon the recommendation of the nomination
committee of the Company, the Board considered all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent. Biographical information
of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set
out on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

IR REH SR 177

BREEREFEI(TER TN ARFIREZR
2024F3 A3 1HIEFEIWEAT LR EE2024
F3A31H I FE R FE AL E 2817

BB R &R

AREEREHZ2024F3A31 B IEFEARE &R
HEEFBEIHNR AT IEREMT14 -

KB 2R
AARMMBD AR ERNRA FHREM R
26 °

XER

BRAARRMRMEEE AT RNERBNASE
WFE212A0R REREARE | -

T

HZE2024F3A3IBIEFEREEARERE -
ViN/NET =<3 (1 N

HITES

BRIGIR 4 (£ EHFTTIHAAEE)
BRoK - P A

FREZ BB (R2024F2 F5 HEZF)
BAFHITESE

=HEL

EESIEL

PEEIREE A - g wwr (R2024F2 A5 HHEZ(F)

REBABSRMAIE 10811215 - BRIBARE
£ RBRE - TERESE  ERESIBLRE
TIRELE  cre+r SR EERRBFARE L
EREALNAERBREERSET - RIB LR
RIE3I3GZRIE - AR B KBS B ILIENTT
EXRHNFEBIMERE - RARAREER
EgHERR EXeAR 2REBEVIIFNTES
BEBIAL - EERAKESRERENER
FHBEHNARFREI5E208 -

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be
renewed and extended automatically by three years on the expiry of
such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of three
years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at
least three months’ written notice of non-renewal before the expiry
of the then existing term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one
year commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be
renewed and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of
such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of one
year thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at
least one month’s written notice of non-renewal before the expiry of
the then existing term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has any service agreement or appointment letter
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or
sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to the written resolutions of
the then sole Shareholder passed on 13 September 2022.

No awards or options had been granted, agreed to be granted,
exercised, cancelled, forfeited or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”). As at the Latest Practicable
Date, there was no “Invested Entity” other than members of
the Group, and the Group had not identified any potential
“Invested Entity” for investment.

Who may join

The Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme to make an offer to any of the following
classes:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
the Directors (including any independent non-executive
Director)) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries (within
the meaning of the Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an “eligible employee”);

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(iv) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of the Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and

R BRI E

(a)

(b)
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(vii) any other group or class of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for
the grant of an option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any option by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities of
the Group to any person who falls within any of the above
classes of eligible participants shall not, by itself, unless the
Directors otherwise determine, be construed as a grant of
option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the
Directors from time to time on the basis of the Directors’
opinion as to such eligible participant’s contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time.

(i) The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company) to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares (assuming the
Over-allotment Option and the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme are not exercised) in issue at
the time dealings in the Shares first commence on the
Stock Exchange, being 100,000,000 Shares (the “General
Scheme Limit").

(©
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(iii)  Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iv) below, the Company may seek
approval of the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue (assuming the Over-allotment Option
and the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
are not exercised) as at the date of the approval of the
limit and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options
(including options outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group)
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company will not
be counted.

(iv) Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iii) above, the Company may seek
separate Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting to
grant options under the Share Option Scheme beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) above to eligible
participants identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to paragraph (e) below, the total number of Shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of any
option which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Where any further
grant of options to a grantee under the Share Option Scheme
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted to
such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in a general
meeting of the Company with such grantee and his close
associates (or his associates if the participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Option period

The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

(7)

(9)

Vesting period

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option
for any minimum period nor achieve any performance targets
before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Grant of options to core connected persons

@)

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (ii) below, the
making of an offer under the Share Option Scheme to any
Director, chief executive of the Company or Substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
the grantee of an option under the Share Option Scheme).

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (i) above, where any
grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
Substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options under the Share Option Scheme already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares on the offer date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting. The grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting.

(e)

(7

(9)
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(h)

(@)

1

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

For the purpose of seeking the approval from the Shareholders
under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above, our Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders containing the information
required under the Listing Rules and where the Listing Rules
shall so require, the vote at the Shareholders’ meeting
convened to obtain the requisite approval shall be taken on
a poll with those persons required under the Listing Rules
abstaining from voting.

Payment on acceptance of the option

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to
submit to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 7 days
from the offer date together with a payment in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 per option as the consideration of the
grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a business day, on which the
Board passes a resolution approving the making of an
offer of grant of an option to a Participant;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

Remaining life

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which
period no further options shall be granted. All options granted
and accepted and remaining unexercised immediately prior
to the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme. Since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, no option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme. Therefore, no option was exercised or cancelled or has
lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2024 and there was no
outstanding option as at 31 March 2024.

(h)

(@)

1)
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group joins mandatory provident fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

No forfeited contributions (by the Group on behalf of employees
who leave the defined contribution plans prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) can be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$1.3 million) during the year ended 31 March 2024. Save as
the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension
schemes during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2024 and

31 March 2023 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
upcoming annual general meeting.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at 31 March 2024 or at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares
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EERESTHRAERALQFARA
MESEERNRG - HERORER
HPEANERERAR

M2024F3A318 EERARN G HRETHAE
RARRISERE EE (TERFSH KIS KM
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(a) PRI NEFR

Number of Shares Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest interested interest
BEEEDN

EEpA B9 REmtE RO EE BB

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

PRI AR ST A (FEET) R EE A AT
HRF AR

Mr. Chan Wing Ping (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

PR S A (B =ET) R EE R EE A AT
HREF AR

Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP (Note 2) Independent non-executive 670,000 0.067%

PEREREEA . A Tar (FiEE2)

Director

BYIFATES
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Notes:

1. Evolve Billion Limited is beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and 20% by Mr. Chan Wing Ping. On 5
November 2020, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan Wing Ping
entered into an acting in concert confirmation to acknowledge
and confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting
in concert within the meaning of the Code on Takeovers and
Mergers. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan
Wing Ping are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Evolve Billion Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2024, Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP was interested in
670,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately
0.067% of the total issued shares of the Company, which was
less than 1% of the total issued shares of the Company as
referred to in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

(b) Long position in the shares of associated

Fi3

1. EEAERDRD B A RE R L A RBRX
FREERRHEES0% K%20% ° 20204
11 A58 » SR A KK FLER L
—HITHHERE - UWERNER(EhE
FIRSEA—BITHAL(EER TR
B RAGSTA]) - BIFZHFLEHEED
FR A8 7R 50 4 R PR oK - 2 A AR A R
BRAREE 2N EG#EZ -

2. R2024F3A31H @ EEIREL K F#
+ AR F670,00088 B ) P A #ERS -
AR E 2 IE EITRAL0.067% @ K
R ETRREIIBEMERATZIE
BITIRAE1% ©

(b) REEEERONER

corporations
Number of
Name of associated Capacity/Nature of Shares held Percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest interested interest
BEERHN
EEpnA HEEE AR 54 ERtE R B A ERENAE DL
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum  Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 80 80%
BRIBAR ST HE HERARRAR BHEAA
Mr. Chan Wing Ping Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 20 20%

PRk e 4 HERARAT BEmEa A
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO

were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares
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M2024F3A318 » THALRERAR R KAE
BAROTHEEEREEFLAE Mfﬁﬂ%xwﬁ%z
MEIDHNERAT LB RFW B RN AR
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RBRBz2HR

Number of Shares Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest held interested interest
BEERDN

REREWE A B RemitE RGO # A EENBE I

Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 750,000,000 75%

ERARAR BEEEBA

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

BREEFR T4 THEEREREmEMAL
/\HTTJ'E E’j*&

Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching (Note 1) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu 750,000,000 75%
Sum

B a8 (fEET) PRIBAREE BB 2 s

Mr. Chan Wing Ping Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

BRACF S T EE R RE A AT
HAFANER

Ms. Chan Pong Hing (Note 2) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Wing 750,000,000 75%

PR B Ac+ (K FE2)

Notes:

Ping
0 e A =

GEE

1. Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is the spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum. Under the 1.
SFO, Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is interested.

2. Ms. Chan Pong Hing is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Ping. Under 2.
the SFO, Ms. Chan Pong Hing is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Ping is interested.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract, other than a contract of service with any Director or
any person in the full-time employment of the Company, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any body
corporate.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, Mr. Chan Wing Ping and Evolve Billion Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) had entered into
the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 18
September 2022 (the “Non-competition Undertaking”). Each
of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that he/it had
complied with the Non-competition Undertaking during the year
ended 31 March 2024. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed that state of compliance of each of the Controlling
Shareholders with the Non-competition Undertaking and as far as
the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there has
been no breach of the undertakings given in the Non-competition
Undertaking by the Controlling Shareholders during the year ended
31 March 2024.

The Directors further confirmed that none of the Directors and
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance connected to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its subsidiaries, or its holding company or
any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director
or a connected entity of a Director had a direct or indirect material
interest, subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

As of 31 March 2024, save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of
significance had been entered into between the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group had not entered
into any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2024 which is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed under
Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there was no
other related party transaction during the year ended 31 March
2024.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER'S INTERESTS

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Grande Capital
Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), as at 31 March 2024, the
Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close associates
had any interests in relation to the Company, which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and
the code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of part 2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make
recommendations to Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems
and audit process of the Company and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing, Dr. Huang Hong,
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, JpP, all being independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Yu Chi Wing is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and confirmed that they were
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

PUBLICATION OF ANNUAL RESULTS AND
ANNUAL REPORT

The annual results announcement and the annual report are
published on the Company’s website at www.chankiu.hk and the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. The annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 will be published
on the websites of both the Stock Exchange and the Company in
due course in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“2024 AGM") of the
Company will be held on 16 August 2024 and the notice and
circular of the 2024 AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be entitled to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 13 August 2024 to Friday,
16 August 2024, both dates inclusive, the period during which no
transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all completed share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 12 August 2024.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
management of the Group and all the staff for their hard work and
dedication, as well as its shareholders, business associates and other
professional parties for their support throughout the period.

On behalf of the Board
Chan Kiu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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OUR MESSAGE

GC Construction Holdings Limited is deeply devoted to ensuring that
our company operates in a sustainable and responsible manner, and
we place great importance on environmental, social, and governance
("ESG") considerations for ensuring our long-term prosperity. We
firmly believe that by integrating ESG factors into our decision-
making processes, we can generate value for all our stakeholders,
including shareholders, customers, employees, and the communities
in which we operate.

In recognition of climate change as one of the most pressing
challenges facing our planet today, we have set high targets, both
short-term and long-term, to reduce our greenhouse gas (“"GHG")
emissions and are actively working towards transitioning to a low-
carbon economy. We vow to seize every opportunity to reduce
emissions across our entire value chain, as we remain committed to
addressing this issue.

Our commitment to ESG issues stems from our recognition of our
responsibilities to evaluate and determine ESG-related risks for the
Group, as well as to ensure the establishment of effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems. We acknowledge the
importance of diversity, equity, and inclusion in our workplace and
in society, and are committed to fostering an inclusive and respectful
culture that values the unique perspectives and contributions of all.

We regard ethical business practices as essential to our long-
term success and uphold the highest standards of integrity and
accountability in all our operations. We operate in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations and have established a
comprehensive set of code of conduct that promotes transparency
and accountability in all our business practices.

While we take pride in the progress we have made, we recognise
that there is still much work to be done. We remain committed to
continuous improvement and to ensuring that our ESG performance
meets the highest standards, so that the Group may continue to
lead the industry as a responsible corporate citizen. We will continue
to collaborate with our stakeholders on ESG issues and to work
together to create a more sustainable and responsible future for all.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT
GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with

its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, “we" or
“us"”) are delighted to share our second Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) that outlines our achievements
and advancements in significant ESG aspects. In compliance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
"ESG Guide") as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), this report
encompasses a broad spectrum of topics, such as our initiatives
towards mitigating carbon emissions, our pledge towards fostering
diversity and inclusivity, and our strategy for maintaining ethical
business practices.

Reporting Period

This report outlines the ESG performance and approach of GC
Construction Holdings Limited during the period spanning from
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period” or
“2023/2024").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report reveals the relevant policies and efforts concerning
the Group's core and significant operations, which are wet trades
works including plastering, tile laying, brick laying, floor screeding
and marble works in both public sector projects and private sector
projects in Hong Kong.

The Report presents the environmental and social key performance
indicators ("KPIs") for both the Group. The Group strives to
enhance its internal data collection process to continuously provide
a comprehensive overview of our performance. Unless explicitly
stated, the environmental, social, and governance data in this
report pertains to GC Construction Holdings Limited and its primary
subsidiaries.
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Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is constructed based on the guidelines outlined in the
ESG Guide as well as the four reporting principles — materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency:

Materiality: The Group identifies significant ESG matters through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessments.

Quantitative: The Group discloses information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and calculation tools utilised, as well as
the source of conversion factors employed for reporting emissions/
energy consumption (where relevant).

Balance: The Report identifies both achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

Consistency: The Report uses consistent methodologies for
meaningful comparisons unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The Report has fulfilled all “comply or explain” requirements and
mandatory disclosures outlined in the ESG Guide.

The contents of this report are derived from internal documents and
statistics of the Group, as well as the management and operational
information provided by its subsidiaries, in accordance with the
Group’s internal management systems. A comprehensive index
of the report’s contents is included in the final section for easy
reference. The report is available in both Chinese and English on the
Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.chankiu.hk). If there is any conflict or inconsistency
between the Chinese and English versions, the English version will
take precedence.

Review and Approval

The Board accepts its obligation to ensure the ESG Report’s precision
and thoroughness, and to the best of their understanding, the
ESG Report has tackled all significant material concerns and has
presented a just portrayal of the Group’s ESG performance for
2023/2024. The Report underwent examination and endorsement
by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 19 July 2024.

Feedback

If you have any feedback or recommendations regarding the
ESG Report, please do not hesitate to contact the Group at
info@chankiu.hk.
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COMPANY PROFILE

Established in 2005, GC Construction Holdings Limited has been
providing exceptional wet trades works as a subcontractor, through
our two principal operating subsidiaries, Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited and Ying Wai (Chan Kiu)
Construction Engineering Company Limited. The wet trades works
undertaken by us typically involve various trades of works, details of
which are set out as follows:

—  Plastering works which generally refer to applying plaster
evenly on the surfaces of floors, walls and ceilings manually or
with the use of our plaster spray machine.

—  Tile laying works which generally refer to cutting and laying
tiles on the surface of floors and walls.

—  Brick laying works which generally refer to laying brick blocks
in uniform layers.

—  Floor screeding works which generally refer to applying a well-
blended mixture of cement with graded aggregates and water
to a floor base.

—  Marble works which generally refer to cutting and laying
marble tiles on the surfaces of floors, window sills and walls.

Our unwavering commitment to excellence in execution has earned
us a high ranking in the Hong Kong wet trades works subcontracting
market. Our primary engagements were in the private sector,
encompassing private residential and commercial developments,
with property developers as the project owners and main contractors
as our customers. Our forte in the sector has resulted in us being the
preferred choice of Government departments and statutory bodies
for public sector projects, covering public residential developments,
infrastructure, and public facilities developments.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is dedicated in its commitment to upholding the Group'’s
environmental and social obligations while overseeing the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting. The Board shoulders the responsibility
of evaluating and determining the Group's ESG-related risks,
ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems through providing
practical recommendations.
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For the day-to-day implementation, the Board places great
importance on facilitating the adoption of ESG strategies and
policies throughout the organisation. The Board also performs
regular meetings to discuss the implementation of ESG initiatives and
corresponding performance to keep abreast of all developments.

As part of its oversight role, the Board conducts regular reviews
of the Group’s ESG performance, examining and approving the
Group's annual ESG report, which serves as proof of the Group's
strong commitment to ESG issues. The Board’'s commitment to
ESG issues reflects its firm belief in the importance of corporate
social responsibility and its unwavering commitment to creating a
sustainable and responsible future.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continual engagement and transparent communication with key
stakeholder groups are integral to crafting a business strategy
that aligns with their needs and expectations, thereby enhancing
the ability to identify risks and fostering strong and collaborative
relationships. The Group regards stakeholder opinions as the
bedrock for sustainable development and success, recognising
that their priorities and perceptions enable us to make informed
decisions and manage material ESG considerations. To facilitate
effective stakeholder engagement, the Group communicates with
its stakeholders via various channels, including but not limited to the
following:

Stakeholder Key Expectations
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Review and appraisal meetings
Business communications
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Customer service center and hotlines
Customer communication meetings
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Reporting

Investigations and inspections
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Participation in community events
ESG reports
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Participate in industry forums
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts internal and external materiality assessments to
identify relevant issues for disclosure in the Report. By considering
the impact and influence of stakeholders, alongside the available
resources for the Group, the management pinpointed and invited
key stakeholders to participate in a survey that seeks their input and
recommendations on ESG-related issues pertaining to the Group's
operations.

The materiality assessment conducted during the Reporting Period
yielded a refined set of 10 material topics, derived from a list of 21
potentially relevant issues. The Group has constructed a materiality
matrix as depicted below. The materiality matrix highlights issues of
significance from the perspective of stakeholders and the Group’s
businesses with the issues falling within the quadrant in top-right
holding greater significance. Based on the materiality assessment
outcomes, we have identified the following sustainability issues as
the most pertinent:

The Group will continue to improve its reporting process when
there are relevant updates on methodologies of processing data and
disclosures in future.
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Materiality Matrix
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environmental Management

The Group strives to incorporate a culture of environmental
responsibility and sustainable practices into our operations. To
achieve this, the Group's subsidiaries have adopted environmental
management systems which are in conformity with the requirements
of ISO 14001:2015 standards.

The Group’s environmental management system encompasses
a range of measures and protocols to guarantee adherence
to environmental protection regulations. Our employees and
subcontractors are obligated to adhere to these procedures. The
environmental management system we have in place is extensive,
covering every aspect of our operations, from raw material
procurement to waste disposal. For instance, our environmental
management system may include measures such as waste reduction,
energy conservation, and pollution prevention, while work
procedures may include guidelines on the proper handling and
disposal of hazardous materials, minimising emissions from vehicles
and equipment, and conserving resources like water and energy.

Our primary objective in implementing these measures and
procedures is to limit our environmental impact and ensure that we
operate in a sustainable manner. Compliance with these protocols
is mandatory for all employees and subcontractors, and we regularly
monitor and audit our activities to ensure that we are achieving our
environmental goals.

Emissions Target and Objectives
Short-term
The environmental targets below are set for the existing projects:

Our objective is to adhere to all legislation pertaining to air quality,
noise, water quality, and waste management, ensuring 100%
compliance. Additionally, we aim to prevent any breach of the limits
for air, noise, and water, and to avoid receiving any complaints
during the contract period. To accomplish these goals, we will
ensure that all waste is sorted with the concept of reusing and
recycling. By implementing these measures, we strive to promote
responsible waste management and minimise environmental impact.
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Long-term

Our objectives are to enhance compliance with legislation related to
air quality, noise, water quality, and waste management. We aim
to achieve this by controlling the noise generated by our operations
and minimising waste generation during the construction phase.
Additionally, we seek to minimise the amount of waste that is sent
to disposal grounds.

The Group has established emission reduction targets to ensure a
sustainable future. These targets have been set in comparison to
the 2022/2023 baseline year, and we aim to attain the following
objectives by 2027/2028:

—  Decrease air emission and GHG emission by 3%.

Decrease energy consumption by 3%.
—  Decrease water consumption by 3%.
—  Decrease waste disposal by 3%.

Emissions

The Group is bound by specific environmental regulations under
Hong Kong laws, including the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400), Water Pollution Control
Ordinance ("WPCO") (Cap. 358), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and
other relevant environmental ordinances and regulations.

The Group ensures its compliance with relevant laws and regulations
through measures described in the following sections.

2023/24 3R o

R - HEREGHRS

RA

BB RERMRETHEERGER  BE - K
B REERYERABED - RABBEDIES
LEEENRE MR T ERELSNERY -
NREDABEER - Mo RFTERER W
REHEERBNERZNHE -

AEBBET TREEEIEZ  BREEZ—AAHESR
BARRIK o 3237 F /B2 - $1M1242022/2023
FEAEEF - WEtEIR2027/2028F 2 AIE IR LA
TRE:

— ZERHMOAEREHERER3%
— BEREAERI3% -

— FKERLP3% -

— BYEBSRI3% -

B
AEBREBEPBETHRERTERIIDR -
BRFIVNE(ERSREFEG) - F4008(%
ZEBED) - F358FKITRE BRI K
SRERERE ) - F34TEMREGD) - F
1328 R AR E R BRIGH ) R EA AR IRE
{5 KRB o

AEEEBRMATEAHRNER - BARELE
STIRREDDER

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

71



72

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHRS

Air Pollutant Emissions

As a wet trades works contractor, the main source of air pollutant
emissions for our operations are mainly generated from our
forklifts and motor vehicles. Our executive Directors believe that the
emissions generated by our forklifts are relatively minor, nevertheless
our Group is still committed to reduce air pollutant emissions as
much as possible. Please refer to section headed “GHG Emission”
below for details of measures implemented to reduce air pollutants.
The table below sets forth a breakdown of air pollutants generated
from motor vehicles owned by the Group:

ZERTRY L

TER—RRKTIZAZER - RPIEBLEELN
ERSAMBMHEZRREERANER
H o YITEER R NEELNIIREREEN -
BEAREEDATNRERRER D ZRTRIEM
R ERSRERNERFBEAE2H TR
EREHN & - TREIIAKEMHEEN T
BHESRNZERS AR -

2023/2024 2022/2023

2023/2024% 2022/20234

kg kg

Air Pollutant Emissions ERITREYBERR F= F5
Total Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) et E=s 5.00 2.02
Total Sulphur Oxides (SO,) maEltmE=s 0.07 0.05
Total Particulate Matter TN YR E 0.37 0.15
Total wet 5.44 2.22
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GHG Emissions

During the Reporting Period, majority of our GHG emissions are
generated from (i) combustion of petrol by our forklifts and motor
vehicles (Scope 1); consumption of electricity in our office (Scope 2);
and consumption of paper (Scope 3). The diesel utilised for forklift
during operations and the construction waste we generated in
construction sites were mainly provided and handled by the main
contractors therefore we have no record of those KPIs. The table
below provides a breakdown of our GHG emissions in tonnes CO,
equivalent (“tCO,e") during the Reporting Period:

GHG Emissions

BEREHB

R - HEREGHRS

BEREHH
RmEH - RPIAFDBEREHRIIEA )X
BRAEREVH(BE—)  HAZTREAED
(BE=) » RFERAAREE=) - NEHELESB
T2 {8 R B0 S0m R B AP T EE A YR L RE R =
EmipFEmRft REE - Bt R EEZ
SRREMIERABNRLHE - TREFINBEH
BEREBHMOAM — iR E £ ([ =Sk
EE R

2023/2024 2022/2023
2023/2024% 2022/20234
tCOze tCO,e

Mo ELHER oA

Total Scope 1 Emissions HE—PRE 12.84 9.49
Total Scope 2 Emissions’ #HE s 5.73 6.23
Total Scope 3 Emissions HE=—HRE 3.59 3.59
Total Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) Pemaa s

(BE— - —k=) 22.16 19.31
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) ZE(EEEBETRA) 0.04 0.04

For the Reporting Period, Scope 1 emissions accounted for
approximately 58% of the total GHG emissions, Scope 2 emissions
accounted for approximately 26% of the total GHG emissions and
Scope 3 emissions accounted for approximately 16% of the total
GHG emissions. The total GHG emissions and its intensity were
22.16 tCO,e and 0.04 tCO,e per million HK$ revenue respectively.

! The emission factor used for the calculation of Scope 2 emissions was
available from the latest sustainability report published by the CLP
Power Hong Kong Limited.
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To minimise the direct GHG emissions associated with our
operations, we have implemented several measures, including:

- reminding our employees to switch off idling engines when our
forklifts or motor vehicles are not in use;

-  monitoring the fuel consumption of our forklifts and motor
vehicles and conducting regular maintenance and inspections
to ensure optimal performance; and

— adhering to air pollution abatement guidelines as outlined
in our environmental management plan. These guidelines
encompass ensuring that the concentration and rates of air
pollutants comply with pertinent environmental protection
laws and regulations, conducting regular inspections to ensure
that our forklifts and motor vehicles’ GHG emissions fall do not
exceed the prescribed legal limits as well as prohibiting open
burning on project sites.

By implementing these measures, we aim to minimise our direct
GHG emissions and promote sustainable practices within our
operations.

Waste Management

According to our materiality assessment, waste disposal and
composite utilisation has been shown to be one of the key concerns
pertaining to environmental problems by our stakeholders. It is of
utmost importance for the Group to address to the needs of our
stakeholders and we will perpetually strive to adopt appropriate
waste reduction and recycling measures as well as being in
compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance.
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Hazardous Wastes

To the best knowledge of our executive Directors and due to the
nature of our business, the Group did not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste during our operations. However, we
have established guidelines to manage any hazardous substances or
chemicals that may be used in our operations.

For instance, we compile safety data sheets that detail the
composition and physical and chemical properties of any hazardous
materials we use, as well as instructions for their safe handling,
storage, use, and disposal. We also provide training and workshops
to our employees on the proper treatment of hazardous substances
and chemicals.

In the rare event that we do produce hazardous waste, a qualified
chemical waste collector will be appointed to handle and dispose
of such waste in compliance with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.

RIR - HERERRS

BEZERY
RATEFTRANAERNRANEHILE - ARE
MEBLEYBELRERZTRERY - A - &
PIDHIRT T4E5] - MRERMAEERERINE
MEEME N Em

fian - BPIERELE2BER - FIRFERD
EAAZWREBD AR R R - AR
ZERE 7 ERAMEERBYHOETR
BfImeLHERERHEEZEREEEME MM
Bl R Ty -

WHRMAEBEENERATEL T EEEEY R
P tER A BRI EEEEM R EHARRER
RERREY  ANETHBRTDAEES o

Non-hazardous Wastes BEEEY
2023/2024 2022/2023
2023/2024% 2022/20234F
kg kg
Waste BEY F= T
Total Non-Hazardous Wastes? EEEYBE? 748.44 748.44
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) BE(Fa&5TlA) 1.28 1.38

The non-hazardous waste that the Group generates are primarily
from paper consumption and domestic waste. For those papers
containing sensitive information of the Group, they will be properly
scattered before being treated as waste. Such wastes are collected
and processed by our office’s property management, therefore,
the relevant quantitative data is not available. And we have no
discharges into land except solid waste that delivers to landfills. Over
the Reporting Period, we generated approximately 748.44 kg of
non-hazardous waste.

2 Non-hazardous wastes only includes paper wastes from our office.
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To limit the environmental impact of our non-hazardous waste,
we have implemented several waste management measures and
launched various waste reduction initiatives. These measures include
providing recycling bins for various waste streams to encourage
recycling, promoting the use of electronic communication to reduce
paper consumption, placing a collection box for single-sided used
paper next to each printer to promote paper reuse, and encouraging
employees to use double-sided printing or photocopying whenever
possible. Moreover, on-site project teams are trained to study the
customer’s specifications very well to gauge the estimated number
of materials that will be used so as to prevent wastage.

Through these measures, we aim to reduce the amount of non-
hazardous waste generated by our business operations and promote
sustainable waste management practices.

Sewage Discharge

The Group’s operations have not resulted in any significant water
consumption, and thus we have not generated any substantial water
discharges during the Reporting Period. In compliance with the
Water Pollution Control Ordinance, any wastewater that is produced
at site is discharged into the municipal sewage pipeline network for
processing under the account of our main contractors.

Noise

Given the nature of our business, we acknowledge that noise
generated on project sites can have negative environmental impacts.
To minimise any annoyance to the community and environment, we
have adopted specific noise pollution control policies on our project
sites.

The Group has taken practical steps to mitigate excessive noise
resulting from our operations. These measures include utilising
advanced construction and noise damping technology to minimise
noise levels. Furthermore, we investigate underlying causes and
make necessary adjustments to adhere to relevant regulations, such
as the Noise Control Ordinance, when noise levels exceed prescribed
levels. Additionally, we provide hearing protection devices for our
employees to minimise their exposure to excessive noise levels.
By implementing these measures, we aim to reduce the negative
impact of noise pollution resulting from our operations and ensure
the safety and well-being of our employees.
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Resource Consumption

Energy Consumption

The Group'’s primary sources of energy consumption mainly included
(i) consumption of petrol by our motor vehicles; and (ii) electricity
used in office. The table below provides a detailed breakdown of our
major sources of energy consumption during the Reporting Period:

R - HEREGHRS

ERHFE

BERFEH
REBNEBRRRMAEEQRE()TERANA
R DEFTREN o TRAMEY T RMA
& IR E BRI

2023/2024 2022/2023

2023/2024%  2022/2023%

MWh MWh

Energy Consumption BEIRFE JEE B JEE R
Direct Energy Consumption? B S 46.78 34.59
Indirect Energy Consumption* M iEge 2 14.69 15.96
Total Energy Consumption B s 61.47 50.55
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) BE(Fa&5mThA) 0.11 0.09

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption and its
intensity were 61.47MWh and 0.11MWh per million HK$ revenue
respectively.

In addition to the energy saving measures implemented for our
forklifts and motor vehicles, our Group has established energy
conservation management practices to minimise the waste of
energy. These include:

encouraging e-office practices and measures that promote
energy conservation, such as turning off electronic appliances
when not in use;

—  encouraging employees to set room temperatures within the
range of 23°C to 25°C;

— providing regular training and workshops to enhance
knowledge on energy-saving measures and awareness among
employees;

—  fostering the use of energy-saving and efficient equipment and
attending to damages immediately once reported.

By adopting these energy conservation measures, we aim to
minimise our energy consumption and promote sustainable practices
within our business operations.

3 Direct energy consumption includes usage of fuels by the Group's
motor vehicles.

4 Indirect energy consumption includes usage of electricity purchased
from the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited for the Group’s office use.
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Water Consumption

Our Group's primary water consumption occurs within our office,
and our water consumption expenses are included in the property
management fee. Therefore, the related consumption data is not
available. To ensure efficient use of water, we have implemented
measures to increase water efficiency. For example, we have placed
environmental signs with water-saving messages in prominent
locations within our office to promote water conservation. Through
these measures, we aim to promote sustainable water usage
practices and minimise our environmental impact.

Water is also recognised as a precious resource. During the
Reporting Period, we obtained water from the third-party suppliers,
hence, we were not aware of any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose.

Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations do not involve any production process,
it does not consume packaging materials, this aspect is considered
irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s primary objective is to minimise the negative impact
of business operations on the environment and natural resources.
To achieve this, the Group aims to implement best practices that
promote environmental protection and adaptation to climate
change. Additionally, the Group strives to cultivate an eco-conscious
culture that encourages positive lifestyle and habits among
employees.

In addition to our full compliance with the Waste Disposal
Ordinance, Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance, Water
Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Air Pollution
Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation and Air
Pollution Control Ordinance, an environmental management system
in conformance with I1SO 14001 international standard has also
been established. In general, works performed by our subcontractors
are inspected and monitored by our project management team to
ensure adherence with our environmental management system.
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The Group shows our commitment by identifying and planning for
effective responses to potential environmental impacts of related
business activities as follows:

R - HEREGHRS

A EAB B AR B AR A S B
BERFHENTE  BRRMPUBROFAE
T

Environmental Impacts Activity Response
REXE EE [E] fE
Air and noise pollution e Machinery operations e Advanced technology for mitigation

. Construction works
TEREEFITR o HERIRME
o  HEETRE

Water contamination .

UGS .

Discharge of wastewater

BEEREK

Depletion of natural resources e  Office operations

e Construction works
HIBRAEIR o WREEE

o BEETRE

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to air and GHG emissions, noise
control, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Climate Change

The executive Directors of our Group are responsible for assessing
and handling significant ESG issues as well as climate-related risks
and opportunities. They will perform regular reviews to analyse issues
and risks that are relevant to the Group’s business development.
Our executive Directors will also stay informed about the latest
government policies regarding climate change. To better understand
the risks and opportunities, the executive Directors and senior
management will engage in discussions on the sustainability of the
wet trades works industry and low-carbon economy. The Board
will collaborate closely to identify future risks and opportunities
and take appropriate measures to adapt to the constantly changing
circumstances.

The Hong Kong Government has developed various plans and
initiatives in response to the Paris Agreement, including the issuance
of “Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”. This plan outlines the vision
of achieving “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable
Development” and includes specific actions to achieve this goal.
The Group intends to align with local government initiatives and
comply with the local emission reduction requirements. Our target
is to reduce GHG emissions by approximately 3% by the financial
year 2027/28, and we are committed to ensuring that Group’s GHG
emissions will meet the local requirements by 2030 at the latest.
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The Group has included climate change action in its business AEEBEERIEZ(LITEIMAHLEREFTE » Iab
strategy and integrated it into its governance and management A RMIHEALEREFEF - T25$E)ELT$§"E<
processes. A table provided below outlines the four essential BERERIFIEEY 5E BIHE TIFENER
elements of the Group’s response to the climate change disclosure  FEXHMEE(C B S TR T LONEEAEE -
obligations according to the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial

Disclosures recommendations.

Core element

The Group's response

BOEE AEEHEE
Governance e Regular meeting on ESG topics
e Incorporating ESG matters, including those related to climate, into corporate
decision-making processes
EA o R HEKEARZBEARTHEH
o KRR HELEAFE(BRERFMERNER)MARRIRERE
Strategy e Understanding climate risks and recognising the risks and opportunities
associated with the transition to a low-carbon economy
SR o THRRARE R MR EEHE RARR AV R R B

Risk Management

e\ i 3

Metrics and Targets

EEEBER

e Reviewing ESG risk on regular basis

e Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy

e Establishing and implementing measures to manage physical climate risks
o EHRAERE  HeMEARER

. /‘ﬂ%ﬂi"’“iﬁﬁmi&@

o RULEFEREEEEEERREER

e Developing short-term, medium-term, and long-term goals for reducing GHG
emissions to achieve net-zero emissions

o HFIERREREHNEENE D REHABRE  UERFTHR
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After analysing the data provided by the Hong Kong Observatory,
we have identified several risks and opportunities that may have
material impact on our business growth:

Risks

[ B
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BAIAM T EBRAX BRENBIRZZ - BHIH
ZER e g H A MNEFIEREREATENR
KB

Opportunities

B

Short term (0-1 year)

SEEGEIED)

Medium term (5 years)

RHEI(5%F)

Transition risks — Securing the skills
and capability required to implement
climate strategy

Transition risks — Implementation of
regulations to mandate “Prevention

of Heat Stress At Work" guidelines
Physical risks — Rising temperature

and heightened precipitation

resulting in the proliferation of
mosquitoes, which increases the risk

of transmission of mosquito-borne
diseases

Physical risks — Increased frequency

and severity of extreme weather
conditions such as cyclones and
extreme precipitation

BERR - ESEERRRIEAFLN o

FRE M RE .
BRRR —EERG  PARSIETT
[ T{ERIER & 453l

HEAR - A LA Rk E NS
B AR - EINT AT
FROOER
£ AR — ERR AR,
R (AR KR E
TR

Transition risks — Implementation of
low-carbon policies for the operation
Transition risks — Changing customer
behaviour in response to climate- o
related risk will affect demand and
supply of our goods and services
BER — 5t L E B M RIRBUR .
WERR —ZFPITREERIZIEMEE o
Bz - BRI S LR
sk
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Technologies to enhance the
performance of operation and energy
efficiency

Heat-relieving measures to combat
increasing temperatures and
rearrange work schedules to avoid
working under hot weather

R ERIER MR O RAMT
REVES =IRHMEREN - ANEH
ZHE TR - BRERARR T T
1

Increasing opportunities in
environmentally friendly urban
redevelopment

Replacing our forklifts with those that
emit less GHG

BIBRRT R EREAEE
BXEERARERBHRER DD

AUSR
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RiE - HERER

wE

Risks

[ B

Opportunities
A

Medium to long term
(5+ years)

R (BE5F)

limited to:

Action on Climate Change
Our action plan encompasses various measures, including but not

Transition risks — Potential new
regulation and policies such as
carbon taxes will increase cost
Transition risks — Development and
use of emerging technologies may
increase the operational costs, and
reduce the Group’s competitiveness
Transition risks — Reputation may be
impacted due to changing customer
or community perceptions if we do
not achieve the public demands
Physical risks — Rising sea levels
resulting in severe damages to wet
trades works performed at low-lying
areas due to flooding

IR B — B TE B FT AR B R BR (40
Bk ) G E HNAK AR

R b — B R S 0 AT B AT PT B
GIGINEEKAR - BIEAEENRF
7]
BERRE — WMEMREREARE
ko BPStBREB MBI GE
H8 - M ERMINEE
ERER —&TH L BEBIERE
H R HEFTRY YRR TRZ R K M 52 5 Bk

e Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets

e  Becoming a pioneer in the industry
and building up the relevant
reputations

o EEREBKETS - EKBTH
ERVAERES
o RARITRAHE  HUBE

EsmIRB L BRI TTE

encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to reduce  —

carbon emissions into their day-to-day activities wherever

feasible;

our carbon footprint;

establishing and implementing long-term targets for reducing  —

adopting industry best practices and technology to enhance  —

energy efficiency in our daily operations such as replacing our
forklifts with those that emit less GHG or are more efficient in
energy consumption; and
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment, Recruitment and Promotion

The Group acknowledges that the success of the organisation heavily
relies on the skills, capabilities, and commitment of its employees.
Therefore, the Group’s philosophy is centered on attracting highly
competent candidates who share the same values and mission
as the Group, while also promoting diversity to foster excellence.
The Group aims to recruit suitable talent and maintain a pool of
employees based on human resource planning and requirements.
High-performing employees will be promoted and moved to fill
vacancies, providing them with opportunities to advance within the
Group.

In addition, the Group values the growth and development of
its employees. Generally, employee salaries are determined by
their qualifications, position, and seniority. To attract and retain
valuable employees, annual performance appraisals are conducted
to assess their performance in various areas such as safety, work
ethics, technical skills, and interpersonal skills. The Group takes
these evaluations into account during the annual salary review and
promotion appraisal process.

The Group has adhered to all relevant employment laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to:

Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57);

—  Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282);

—  Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485);
—  Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608);

—  Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Cap. 583);
—  Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480); and

—  Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487).
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group is dedicated to maintaining reasonable working hours
and ensuring that employees receive adequate rest periods. All
employees are entitled to public or statutory holidays, which are
announced in The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Gazette each year. Additionally, employees have access to
various types of leave, including but not limited to annual leave, sick
leave, compensation leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage
leave, and compassionate leave.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities and Anti-
Discrimination

The Group shows unwavering commitment to promote equal
opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination in our workplace.
Equal opportunities are provided pertaining to human resources
matters or in any other activities during employment regardless
of age, gender, physical or mental state, marital status, family
status, pregnancy, race, colour, nationality or ethnic origin, religion,
or sexual orientation. Employees are recognised and rewarded
according to their contribution, performance and skill, which leads
to different remuneration packages and training opportunities.

Any forms of verbal or physical abuse, physical punishment, or
actions that may be considered oppressive or regarded as sexual
harassment towards our employees are strictly prohibited. We also
condemn any punishments, supervision methods, or disciplinary
actions that incorporate such behaviour. In the situation when
employees feel sexual harassed, they are strongly urged to report
the matter to their relevant supervisors or department heads to seek
advice and discuss. Detailed investigations will be conducted by the
Human Resources and Administration Department and managed
confidentially according to the guidelines for handling sexual
harassment complaints.

If justified, relevant disciplinary actions will be taken, which in the

most severe cases, may result in termination of the employment
contract.
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Board Diversity Policy

In recognition of the benefits of diversity, the Group has established
a board diversity policy. The Group sees the importance of gender
diversity and will continue to foster gender diversity at all levels
including but without limitation on our Board. In addition, we aim
to provide more training resources and career growth opportunities
for experienced female employees as well as nominating female
management staff who possess relevant skills and experience to
our Board. The Group believes that the implementation of Board
Diversity Policy will bring about a positive impact in the long run.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group offers numerous incentives and welfare to its employees
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
The Group participates in the defined contribution scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme Ordinance where contributions
are based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The
Group'’s employer contributions are fully vested with the employees
upon being contributed to the Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Labour Standards

The Group upholds its values to respect international human rights
and strongly condemns any human rights abuse especially child
labour, forced labour and illegal labour. The Group abides by the
relevant laws and regulations and acts in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations (Cap. 57B), the Immigration
Ordinance (Cap. 115) and the Employment Ordinance during the
recruitment process. We therefore establish strict regulations to
prevent having child labour, illegal immigrants or workers from
being on-site.

To avoid illegal employment of child and forced labour, the human
resources department of the Group requires all job applicants to
provide valid identity documents to ensure that they can be lawfully
employed prior to the confirmation of employment. Important
details such as job duties, locations and working hours of the staff
are also set out clearly in the employment contract to protect their
rights and interests. Once any case is found to be against the labour
standards, the employment will be terminated immediately, while
the responsible personnel will be disciplined accordingly.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to preventing child and forced
labour.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 89 employees
(independent non-executive directors are not included), all of whom
were based in Hong Kong. Below are the details of the workforce

REHA - NREE I ARG E R ERE
DLLETREHSTERANASEELEAY
LBHYEOIER -

MR2024%F3A31H » AEEE L BE8IZEER (I
BIEBYIERITES) HEEBURES - U
TAERHEHRNEHESEER RES RAZRMF

and the rate of employee turnover during the Reporting Period: 15 -
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
20245 #2023
Workforce® EEERC 3A31H 3A31H
By Gender RIERIE S
Male 5 75 56
Female z 14 21
By Age Group RERHERE S
Below 30 30BRA T 11 8
30-50 30E505% 42 60
51 or above S1pRsk A 36 9
By Employment Level REBRE S
Senior Management BREERE 10 11
Middle Management FAREERE 45 45
General Staff —MRET 34 21
By Employment Type RERERES
Part-time FRE 3 16
Full-time g 86 61
By Geographical Region ZiENEE S
Hong Kong B 89 77
Total Number of Employee EEAH 89 77
5 It includes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the ° HEEALSEREE - »ERNIALESER

subcontractors are not included.
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As at As at
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
1202445 M2023%F
Turnover Rate® ik RS 3H31H 3A31H
By Gender RIERIE S
Male B 34% 48%
Female L8 46% 24%
By Age Group RERHERE D
Below 30 30BRA T 84% 25%
30-50 302505% 20% 45%
51 or above S51BRe A E 53% 33%
By Geographical Region ZitEVEE S
Hong Kong B 36% 42%
Overall Turnover Rate HRKE 36% 42%
Occupational Health and Work Safety BEBFEHETIEZS

The Group prioritises occupational health and work safety, and
as a result, we have adopted an occupational health and safety
management system, which has been certified to be compliant
to ISO 45001 standards. This is a testament to our commitment
to promoting a safe and healthy working environment for all
employees.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.
509), Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59),
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Cap. 59), Occupiers Liability
Ordinance (Cap. 314).

6 Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the
Reporting Period — Number of employees as at the end of the
reporting period. The Group had a total of 89 employee turnover
during the Reporting Period.

NEBEMERFEETEZ2MEGBMNE -
It BPIRA T —ERERFRELZEEERS
HPEREATAISO 4500112 % - = — 2R
BERASNAZEREEEY —EAZ2ERENTIE
IRBRYEGE ©

AEEFESETEAAMRERLZE THERERR
BREERXBERTNEREIESR  BEE
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(IR R TEEEED) - FoAB(EEME (R
B)RODEEIVE(ERNEREEEDD) -

o RAXR=FBEHRNHFEAEENREE AR TS
HIRNOEEAE - RSN AEEA LR
T89HIES -

2023/24 %k e GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

87



88

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HEREGHRS

Health and Safety Measures and Implementation

The implementation of our occupational health and safety policies
is overseen by our project management team, who make sure that
we comply with all the applicable safety standards. The Group has
created an internal safety plan that we regularly review to integrate
the most up-to-date best practices and enhance certain aspects of
our safety management system.

Ensuring that workers and subcontractors follow proper and safe
working practices is a critical responsibility of our safety supervisor.
They provide regular guidance to maintain high safety standards.
If we observe any subcontractors repeatedly violating our internal
safety procedures, we may enforce fines or exclude them from our
list of approved subcontractors.

We conduct regular meetings with our subcontractors to guarantee
that safety measures are implemented effectively. These meetings
are an opportunity to discuss safety measures and address any safety
issues that arise during the project implementation process. By doing
so, we can identify potential safety hazards and take the necessary
steps to mitigate them, creating a safer working environment for all
involved.

Acquiring Equipment and Tools to Further Strengthen
our Occupational Safety

We are fully committed to promoting safety practices throughout
our project implementations and continuously strive to enhance
occupational safety by investing in appropriate equipment and tools.
Our safety plan outlines strict safety rules that all employees, as well
as subcontractors’ employees, are required to follow. In addition,
we provide suitable personal protective equipment, including full-
body harnesses, safety helmets, and safety boots, based on the type
of work being performed. Our goal is to ensure that all workers
are equipped with the necessary safety gear to perform their work
safely and without undue risk. In addition, in compliance with the
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations, we guarantee adequate
quantities of planks and toe-boards to ensure the safety of our
workers when working at heights. This will also attract quality
subcontractors and workers to work with us in the future.
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Enhanced Internal Control Measures for Accident
Management

While unpredictable accidents are inevitable, the Group believes to
constantly improve measures to enhance our internal controls and
safety measures to prevent pasts incidents from happening again.
These measures included:

— Improving our site accident reporting procedures by establishing
a clear workflow for reporting accidents that occur on work
sites. We assigned contact persons responsible for each site to
ensure that accidents are reported promptly and efficiently. This
enables the senior management and project management team
to receive timely notifications of site accidents for the handling
of work injuries and reporting to the Labour Department. In
cases where there is a delay in reporting a site accident, our
executive Directors are informed. They promptly follow up with
the relevant staff and/or main contractor to ensure that the site
accident is reported within the required timeline to the Labour
Department.

—  Establishing an instant message application for accident
reporting. This involves a site accident reporting channel to
facilitate timely reporting of accidents.

Ensuring Safety Compliance at Project Site

As one of the means to ensure safety compliance, a mandatory
safety training course is required to be taken by every construction
site worker who will then be able to attain a valid certificate (also
referred as “green card”) before he/she is approved to enter a
construction site.

The Group conducts site safety induction briefing sessions for
workers on their first day of work and provides on-site training for
workers, including subcontractors’ employees. The safety training
covers various topics such as safety procedures for different types of
work (e.g., working at height), emergency procedures, duties and
procedures for reporting hazards, incidents, accidents, and diseases,
potential hazards at work sites, proper usage of personal protective
equipment, contingency measures, and good housekeeping
practices. These safety training sessions are intended to educate
workers on the importance of safety measures and to provide them
with the necessary knowledge and skills to perform their work
safely. We also regularly review and update our training programs
to ensure that they remain effective and relevant to the changing
needs of our work sites.
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Additionally, the Group maintains effective promotion and
communication of safety procedures through various measures.
These include establishing a safety incentives scheme which
rewards workers with a cash coupon for good safety performance,
conducting regular internal and external safety meetings and
documenting safety issues spotted for each project. General safety
rules are also posted on prominent noticeboards on site. These rules
highlight safe working procedures for work-at-height encompassing
areas such as (i) access to and egress from scaffolds; (ii) proper
erection of working platform; (iii) regular inspection of scaffold by
competent person; and (iv) use of personal protection equipment
including fall arrestor and safety harness. Anyone who does not
comply with the safety rules will face disciplinary actions.

The Group's safety officer conducts risk assessments to identify
potential hazards and accidents and suggests preventive measures
before commencing work. Site inspections are carried out weekly by
our safety supervisors to ensure compliance with safety regulations.
Safety audits and reviews are also conducted in accordance
with Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management)
Regulation.

Safety Organisation

Our safety department is responsible for implementing the safety
management system at our project sites. Additionally, we established
a safety committee at the corporate level. The safety committee
enforces safety policies, reviews and assesses safety policies,
incidents, hazards, and non-compliance with safety standards and
laws. They also address cases of injuries, ill health, and property
damage, as well as incidents that have the potential to cause harm
or losses. The safety committee meets monthly to discuss accident
rates and non-compliance with safety-related laws and regulations.

Safety Performance

During the reporting period, the Group was reported 10 (2023: 3)
incidents of work injuries, which lead to 1,016 (2023: 182) lost days.
The Group will continue to prioritise safety by raising awareness
among its stakeholders and leveraging on these events to improve
its safety performance. The Group is pleased that no work-related
fatalities have been occurred in the past three years.
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2023/2024 2022/2023 2021/2022
Work-related Injury Statistics IE#HEBF 2023/2024% 2022/20234F 2021/20224F
Number Reportable Accidents B SR ) B R 10 3 3
Number of Work-related Fatalities AT AR 0 0 0
Number of Lost Days Due to ATEEEANTIERH
Work Injury 1,016 182 609
GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED o 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Development and Training

The Group places great importance on providing training and
development programs to our employees to enhance their
productivity and contribute to the long-term growth of the
organisation. According to our training and development policy,
we strive to ensure that all employees have equal opportunities to
develop their knowledge, skills, and abilities through various learning
channels, such as mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training, courses,
conferences, and seminars.

On top of that, we conduct performance appraisals to assess our
employees’ personal strengths and weaknesses, as well as their
suitability for promotion or further training. Based on the results of
the performance appraisal, we provide discretionary bonuses and
salary adjustments to our employees.

We offer a range of training programs to our employees, including
technical knowledge related to wet trades works, safety, first aid,
and environmental matters. These training programs are available
through both internal and external channels, such as courses
organised by the Occupational Safety and Health Council, which we
sponsor our employees to attend.

As construction workers, our employees are generally required to be
registered under the Construction Workers Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 583). We believe that investing in our employees’ training and
development is essential to ensuring that they have the skills and
knowledge necessary to perform their work safely and effectively.
This also leads to improved employee engagement and attendance
rates, ultimately contributing to the profitability and success of our
organisation. Therefore, we aim to constantly provide access to a
variety of training programs as well as encouraging our employees
to take up training programs and seminars for self-improvement.

2023/24 3R o

R - HEREGHRS

BRRZH
AEBIEFERMEBIREMNEIINERTE -
EHTEIMEBENRERARENEET - BERK
MREERED TR - RIEBRMOEFIIRERK
X RMBIEREEBRENEZE TSR
FRLESERB(NESE - 88 - EREI -
FIE - FREANE)BEEFERSHNE - K
B

o

Brub 2 5h - PSR EITENE G - AT RER
MEABRMDE - URRERTEA B THE
HE—SEI - ROGRBEEVFENER - B
BEREBIBIEANFHE -

BAIREERHE—RIHIZIIEE - BFEEEK
T 22 SRIRBEEEBAOSIMAE o
% EIEIE B AR R SMNERRE R - 0 R
MEEBRESMBELZREREMRORIE

EREETA  RANEERBEHFEZRES
S83E(IREET AREMRHIDAY AR EFEM » AP
5 HESNEIIRERETRE  2RRER
BEHR 2 LB R TIEM = A a0 aE M A1 #EY
B o EMEERTEEN2EE LB E - &K
BEhma IR E B EEN - I FIBUS A
e Bt - I B IR R A E R R S EE I
g URSEMRE2 SIS MANE - BT
BHEE-

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

91



92

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HEREGHRS

Throughout the Reporting Period, 37 employees of the total
workforce received training, representing approximately 42% of the
Group's employees. The total number of training hours provided
to these employees was 195.42 hours. The tables below set out
the breakdown of the percentage of employee trained and the
average training hours per employee, respectively, by gender and
employment level:

REERSHN  BEEKTBEITARZIIE
B HAKERE AHNN2% - MZFRE
RHEVIEFIFBE HR195.42/ N6 - TRETIH
MREREBEBONZIIREBAN LR ERE
B 5555 B AR

2023/2024 2022/2023

Percentage of Employee Trained’ ZI{EEF AL 2023/2024% 2022/2023%F
By Gender RIERIE S

Male ES 92% 86%

Female Z 8% 14%
By Employment Level REBRE S

Senior Management BREERE 11% 11%

Middle Management FAREERE 71% 79%

General Staff —RET 19% 10%

2023/2024 2022/2023

2023/2024% 2022/2023%F

hours/ hours/

employee employee

Average Training Hours Per Employee® BEEENTIEIIRE AN N RE
By Gender RIERIE 5

Male s 2.00 0.49

Female 2 3.25 2.10
By Employment Level REBRE S

Senior Management SARERE 4.75 5.73

Middle Management FARERE 2.25 0.16

General Staff —fRET 1.38 0.07

Overall Average Training Hours Per Employee FEEEMNTIFE
53 6 2.20 0.93

7 Percentage of employee trained = Number of employees in the 7

specified category received training during the reporting period =+
Number of employees received training during the reporting period.

8 Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting
period = Total number of employees at the end of the reporting
period.
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Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the importance of building and maintaining
strong relationships with our suppliers to achieve consistency and
stability in areas such as cost reduction, efficiency improvement,
and supply chain continuity. Our suppliers primarily comprise
subcontractors, providers of wet works materials, and providers of
machinery and equipment.

We believe that working closely with our suppliers is critical
to ensuring that we have access to high-quality materials and
equipment at competitive prices. By building strong relationships
with our suppliers, we can also improve communication and
collaboration, leading to greater operational efficiency and
productivity. We are committed to maintaining open and
transparent communication with our suppliers to ensure that we can
work together to achieve our shared goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 478
(2022/2023: 455) suppliers and subcontractors, and all of them were
based in Hong Kong.

The Group identifies environmental and social risks of the supply
chain through stringent and systematic supplier/subcontractor
management.
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Enhancing our information technology capability and  12#H Z IR EARIHZEEL R B 1THE M4 F

project implementation efficiency

The procurement of an Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system  REE— B ERFE([LEERRE ) RGR
is part of our plan to boost our information technology capacity and P& AR B RE N R TTHE B MEHEIH
improve project implementation efficiency. This system will simplify ~ FF—I& - Z XSG SECFEM AR MEED
the process of procuring materials and managing subcontractor BEZHE - HITEZHEL  FHLEERRE
payroll. Our executive Directors are confident that the new ERP  ZEAHSREETT T HITHAE

system will carry out the following functions:

— facilitates the ordering process by allowing our project —
management team to send purchase requests online via web
application which is accessible by mobile device;

—  facilitates the approval process of purchase orders by allowing — —
web-based payment approval by our site agent and/or
executive Directors;

—  facilitates the processing of purchase orders by generating  —
purchase orders automatically from purchase requests;

- reduces errors and duplication of purchase orders by storing all ~ —
purchase requests in a central database;

- facilitates the management of purchase orders by matching  —
ordered materials to the relevant project and allowing our staff
to retrieve and trace any purchase orders placed on a real time
basis; and

— enhances documentation and automates manual procedures  —
such as record of works performed by subcontractors and
online storage of progress payment applications submitted by
subcontractors.
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Basis of selecting our suppliers

Our usual practice involves procuring materials and tools from a list
of verified suppliers that we maintain internally. In selecting these
suppliers, we assess several factors including their pricing, the quality
of materials they offer, their ability to deliver on time, and their
capability to meet our specifications and requirements. Our list of
approved suppliers is constantly reviewed and updated to ensure its
accuracy and relevance.

If suppliers meet the same performance standards as others in their
industry, we give preference to those who offer sustainable products
and services. To provide products and services to our Group,
suppliers must adhere to statutory requirements for environmental
protection. For example, the forklifts we own are Regulated
Machines and are subject to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery
Regulation.

To ensure compliance with environmental protection statutory
requirements, we require all suppliers who provide products and
services to our Group to adhere to these regulations. We believe
that it is our responsibility to work with suppliers who operate
in an environmentally responsible manner and are committed to
minimising their impact on the environment.

Basis of selecting subcontractors

The Group values the importance of selecting the right
subcontractors to ensure the success of our construction projects.
When evaluating subcontractors, we consider several factors to
ensure that we select the most qualified and skilled candidates for
the job, including the quality of their services, qualifications, skills
and techniques, prevailing market prices, delivery time, availability of
resources, and reputation. We maintain an internal list of approved
subcontractors that we update regularly based on these factors.
This list includes only those subcontractors who meet our stringent
selection criteria. When selecting subcontractors, we follow a
rigorous process and obtain quotations from multiple eligible
candidates for comparison. We evaluate and select the candidate
with the most pertinent experience for the specific project,
availability, and a competitive fee quotation.
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Product Responsibility

At the Group, product quality and safety are fundamental values
that guide our construction and maintenance activities. We
recognise the importance of delivering high-quality work and are
committed to fulfilling our contractual duties with integrity and
efficiency, as stated in our quality policy.

To achieve this, we aim to gain a strong understanding of our
customers’ demands and a clear control system to continually
improve the competitiveness of our services. The Group fosters
among all employees the awareness and significance of quality.
Teamwork, participation and leadership are strongly encouraged to
attain the Group's objectives.

Service responsibility

In addition to our commitment to quality, we also take responsibility
for our services. We maintain ongoing communication with our
customers to ensure that we understand and meet their expectations
and demands. Upon completion of our projects, our site agent of
the project management team arranges for handover of the project
sites to our customers. We encourage our customers to perform site
visits, and if any defects are detected, rectifications will be scheduled
promptly.

Quality control

The Group understands that our dedication to quality services is
the key to our reputation and continual success. To ensure such
quality, a comprehensive quality control system, which is certified
to be in conformance with the requirements of ISO 9001 standards,
has been established. We have established and devised a quality
manual that stipulates procedures and controls related to the
quality management system, proper filing, communication with
customers, revision of quality manual and procedures, employee
training, internal and external audits, evaluation and procurement
of materials and tools, subcontracting services, and management of
non-conforming work. We believe that by maintaining a culture of
quality and continuous improvement, we can achieve our objectives
and deliver value to our customers.
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The quality control measures adopted by our Group include the
followings:

Collecting feedbacks from customers

As we strongly value our customers’ opinions, our executive Directors
and senior management team conduct regular engagements with
customers and conduct site visits to gather feedback. The Group
ensures speedy response to these customer feedback to guarantee
top-notch service standards consistently. Additionally, we may
participate in progress meetings held by customers to address any
issues identified in the projects.

Designation of project management team

Every project will be managed by a project management team with
relevant qualifications and experience. The site agent is in-charge
of overseeing the team as well as the overall project management,
including communication and coordination with customers,
providing guidance to team members, monitoring the project’s
progress, budget, and service quality.

Throughout the project implementation period, we are typically
required to submit monthly progress reports to customers,
depending on their requests. Our project management team
prepares these reports, which outline the project status and any
identified issues. Our senior management team reviews the reports
to ensure their accuracy and completeness, and then submits them
to customers for their records.

Quality of materials and tooling

To ensure the quality of the materials and tools we use, we maintain
an updated approved list of suppliers. Before finalising the materials
that we will use from our suppliers, we typically submit samples to
our customers to seek consent. Specific branded materials may be
procured upon customer requests. Upon the arrival of materials and
tools, we perform inspections to verify their quality standards.

Works performed by subcontractors

At the Group, we take responsibility for the performance and
quality of work rendered by our subcontractors. To ensure the
compliance of our subcontractors with our contract specifications,
we have implemented a quality management system, environmental
management system, and occupational health and safety
management system that conform to the ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and ISO 45001 standards, respectively. Works performed by
our subcontractors are inspected and monitored by our project
management team based on these systems.
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To ensure compliance with our contract specifications, we
have put in place the following measures to oversee the quality
and advancement of work that we have outsourced to our
subcontractors:

—  our project management team holds periodic meetings with
the responsible personnel for our subcontractors to assess their
performance and address any challenges encountered during
their work;

—  our subcontractors must adhere to our safety management
system guidelines and instructions. The on-site safety
performance of our subcontractors will be closely monitored by
our project management team; and

— our project management team continually examines the
work carried out by our subcontractors during project
implementation based on our quality control manual. We
evaluate the performance of our subcontractors based on
their (i) ability to meet delivery schedules; (ii) response to
instructions; (iii) ability to honour the defects liability period; (iv)
management commitment; (v) quality of services; and (vi) cost
competitiveness.

We believe that by monitoring the quality and progress of works
outsourced to our subcontractors and ensuring their compliance
with our contract specifications, we can deliver high-quality, safe,
and reliable construction and maintenance services to our customers.

Health and Safety and Product Return

Our contracts generally include a defects liability period of 12 to
24 months, following the completion of the relevant site works.
During the defects liability period, we are typically required to rectify
any defect without delay at our own cost if the defect is due to
our nonconformance of works performed, or due to our neglect or
failure to comply with our contractual obligation.

The Group’s business does not involve any research and
development, product manufacturing, packaging and labelling
activities. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not
aware of any material non-compliance relating to customer health
and safety, product return during the Reporting Period.
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Complaint Handling

In order to handle and prevent potential complaints, we have
various customer complaints and feedback handling procedures
established such as conducting regular engagements with customers
and conducting site visits to gather feedback as specified under the
“Quality control — Collecting feedbacks from customers” section
above, as well as our defects liability period as specified under the
“Health and Safety and Product Return” section above. To the best
of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group did not receive any official
complaints from its customers during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Properties

We acknowledge the significance of safeguarding and upholding
our intellectual property rights and abide by all pertinent laws
and regulations that have a notable impact on our operations.
These include but are not limited to (i) the Trademarks Ordinance
(Cap. 559) and (ii) the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) in Hong
Kong.

To avoid infringement of any third party’s intellectual property rights,
we prohibit our employees to use unlicensed computer software or
making unauthorised software copies. The Employee Handbook also
stipulates the code and provision that we require our employees to
comply with.

As of the Reporting Period, the Group possess a registered domain
name and trademark in Hong Kong. We were not aware of any
significant violations, either by us of third party’s intellectual
property rights or by third parties of our intellectual property rights.
Additionally, our Directors did not have knowledge of any ongoing
or impending claims against us or any Group members regarding a
substantial infringement of third party’s intellectual property rights.

Employee and Customer Data Protection and Privacy

At the Group, we consider the confidentiality of employee and
customer information to be of utmost importance. We are
committed to protecting the privacy of our customers, business
partners, and employees in the collection, processing, and use of
their personal or business data.

Consumer data including project-related information and other
sensitive information are subject to access right control to ensure its
security and prevent any abuse and misuse. The HR Department is
responsible to observe the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486) and review our personnel and business practices from time to
time to ensure its compliance.
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As a construction work contractor, the Group did not have material
issues concerning advertising and labelling matters. Nevertheless, we
require our employees to provide customers with accurate and true
information on the Group's services.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising,
labelling, and privacy matters related to products and services
provided.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a zero-tolerance policy for any form of corruption,
including bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering and we
strictly adhere to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).
Our staff handbook includes a disciplinary code that outlines the
consequences of fraudulent behaviour, and we ensure that our
employees understand its terms.

We encourage our employees to report any suspected misconduct,
and we have established guidelines and procedures to avoid
conflicts of interest. Our staff handbook includes declaration of
interest guidelines that require our employees to act in good faith
and honesty in all transactions and avoid using their positions or
knowledge gained from their employment for personal gains.

To prevent any conflicts of interest, our employees must declare any
potential or perceived conflicts of interest to our executive Directors
when they have or have had a personal relationship with a related
person. We take any suspected or actual fraudulent behaviour
seriously and immediately report it to our directors.

The tendering process is vital to our business, and all tendering
documents are kept confidential and restricted to concerned parties
only. Fairness is needed to protect the interests of the Group and
our clients. Employees responsible for tendering must comply with
the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619), and refrain from exchanging
or communicating any sensitive information with or to competitors,
from participating in price-fixing, imposition of restrictions on clients
or abuse of a dominant market position.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standards
of ethical conduct and complying with all laws and regulations
related to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering in the
regions where we operate. For the Reporting Period, no legal cases
regarding corrupt practices had been brought against the Group or
its employees. In addition, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money
laundering.
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During the Reporting Period, employees had attended the anti-
corruption seminar which provided by Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC”). The seminar specified to explain
anti-corruption activities which usually occurred in construction
workplace, such as introduction fees was solicited from the foreman.

At the Group, we prioritise transparency, integrity, and
accountability. To support this commitment, we have established
a whistleblowing policy that serves as a communication channel
for employees to report any concerns related to ethical business or
personal conduct, accounting and financial matters, integrity and
other misconduct, or maltreatment by other staff members.

We encourage our employees to come forward and voice their
concerns if they suspect any misconduct or malpractice within our
Group. We assure complainants of their anonymity and protect them
against unfair dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if their concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.

To ensure the effectiveness of our whistleblowing policy, our
Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing its
implementation regularly. The Group is committed to maintaining
the highest level of transparency, integrity, and accountability. We
provide our employees with a safe and secure whistleblowing policy
to report any concerns related to misconduct or malpractice within
our organisation without fear of retaliation.

Community

Community investment

Our Group strongly believes that community contribution is a vital
component of sustainable development. We recognise that our
construction projects can have a significant impact on the local
community and environment, and we are committed to building
good relationships with the communities near our project sites. We
believe that by engaging with the community, we can establish a
harmonious society and promote social welfare.

To achieve this, we are proactive in communicating with the local
community, seeking to understand their concerns and needs while
keeping them informed about our construction projects’ progress.
We aim to address any issues raised by the community promptly
and transparently. By fostering open and honest communication,
we have been able to build strong relationships with the local
community, which has been recognised by various stakeholders.
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We also recognise the importance of inspiring our employees
towards social welfare awareness. We encourage our employees
to participate in voluntary work and community activities to make
a positive contribution to society. We believe that by motivating
our employees to be socially responsible and actively engaged in
community activities, we can create a culture of giving back and
make a meaningful impact on the communities in which we operate.

During the reporting year, the Group had made donation
of approximately HK$219,400 to support various charitable
organisations and activities, such as fundraising walk for injured
workers and related family. The Group will continue to participate
actively in social welfare activities to better serve the community
and motivate our employees to participate in community events.
The Group shall keep abreast of the latest trends and best practices
related to environmental protection at construction sites, and
workers’ health and safety to further extend our care to the
community.

In summary, the Group believes that community contribution is an
essential component of sustainable development and we aim to
create long-term success in our organisation while making a positive
impact on the communities.
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unit of production volume, per facility).
FRENIEE BEE(SBE) RepREE(SBE2)REREHNE (AT AERELEN 73
A12 B)R(nER)mE(MASESEN - BIAREAE) -
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Hazardous Wastes 75
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
R ENIER FEXGEREMEE UAE) R(WER)BE (IS BEEEY 75
A1.3 EEEN - §ERBAHE) -
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Non-Hazardous 75-76
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Wastes
volume, per facility).
B E IR IR FEAREREZEVEE UNAE) RM(WER)BE (IS BEEEY 75-76
Al.4 EEEN - ERWBTHE) -
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TEHE  BE - - —REERBESERESE(WT) =11 BR
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to  Emissions Target and ~ 70-71, 74
achieve them. Objectives; and
Emissions
RASEEIER HALPRET MV HEE B R R e R S L BRI 28R - BEBEERE® 70-71, 74
A1.5 NBE
KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes Emissions Targetand ~ 70-71, 75-76
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set Objectives; and
and steps taken to achieve them. Waste Management
RARAE BURTR HIRIEAE MEEEEYN L - KM PAET L6 REE  BERBERE® : & 70-71, 75-76
A1.6 BR R mEDE L B IR EREE 28R BEEYER
Aspect A2 Use of Resources
[EEA2EREA
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Environmental 70,77-78
Disclosure water and other raw materials. Management;
and Resource
Consumption
—ARHER ERERAER(BIEER - KREAMRERME)BIBER - RIREE AR 70, 77-78
JHFE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Energy Consumption 77
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kwWh in ‘000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B A IEIR REAESNEER SEEER(INE - KB ERE  ERER 77
A2.1 (AN FEFTEFEFE) REE(WABES SN - BERET
&) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Water Consumption 78
production volume, per facility).
B E NIRRT BEKERTE(WMABESEN - BIERBTE) ° ARk 78
A2.2
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps  Emissions Target 70-71,77-78
taken to achieve them. and Objectives
and Resource
Consumption
AR A IEIR RAPIET M EEREA R B R RAEIGSLAIEMER HREERESNR 70-71,77-78
A2.3 H PR - BB
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REEREBREXEZREE) -} BX
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water  Emissions Target and ~ 70-71, 78
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and Objectives; and
steps taken to achieve them. Water Consumption
ARERUER FEUCSKEGE AR ERI B EREE - ARFPRETZ A AR HERERERER & 70-71,78
A2.4 m B RN AEDE L B IR ERERA 2P 5R - AKX
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in  Packaging Materials 78
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.
RARERUETR *”ﬁﬁzuuﬁﬁﬁﬁ BREMENESE(UBE) R(ER)B4E BEME 78
A2.5 BAhE -
Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
EBEARERAAER
General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the  Environmental 70, 78-79
Disclosure environment and natural resources. Management; and
The Environment
and Natural
Resources
—ARHER BIRBEIT A IRIE RRAEREKERZENEER - RIFEE . IRIER 70, 78-79
RAEIR
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environmentand 78-79
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to Natural Resources
manage them.
B A IEIR HMEBZHHRERRRERNEAZERDENERE RRERAAER 78-79
A3.1 BRZENTE -
Aspect A4 Climate Change
EBEAARIRE L
General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Climate Change 79-82
Disclosure climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
—ARHEER BN EHEKRRAIGEEHBETAEEXENERRIKE RIRE(L 79-82
BHEEHEE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which  Climate Change 79-82
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
B A IEIR MBS RAREGHBETAEEATYENEARRGEEAE RIEE( 79-82
A4.1 B REHTH -
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRME) -} BR
Subject Area B. Social Employment and Labour Practice
ITEHRBUHERENREIER
Aspect B1 Employment
EEB1EE
General Information on: Employment and 83-85
Disclosure (@) the policies; and Labour Practices
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
—RRIREE B ARE  BEREAN TS R TEE EBEERSIER 83-85
g Flb - RBR A R B A5 RAB A -
(@) HE: K&
(b) BTHETAGEATENHBER LR
HERS o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, Employment and 86
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region. Labour Practices
FARE N IEIR RIS EERE (WNEBEEEE)  Fiedn ibRES ERRSIER 86
B1.1 MEB MR -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment and 87
geographical region. Labour Practices
B A IEIR RIER - FlER KRB DEEBMKLLE - BREEBIER 87
B1.2
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
EEB2fERHEL 2
General Information on: Occupational Health  87-90
Disclosure (@) the policies; and and Work Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
—RRIREE ARt TERENRERS BB ELEEN BEBEEI(ELZE  87-90
(@ BE: K
(b) BTHETABGEATENRBER IR
BB R} o
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REEREBREXEZREE) -} BX
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each  Occupational Health 90
of the past three years. and Work Safety
FASEEDIER BEZFEFATTHMABREE - BERBEETELZE 90
B2.1
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health 90
and Work Safety
FASEEDIER EITHBEATIERE - BERFEETELZE 90
B2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Occupational Health  87-90
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. and Work Safety
BB EDER HAPAERANBRRERZ 2R - ARBERTRESR BEREFEREI(FRE  87-90
B2.3 JIE e
Aspect B3 Development and Training
[ETEB3# & KI5
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for ~ Development and 91
Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
—RIEE BERRAEERTIERENANB RRAENBE - s BR&E 91
FEE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and 92
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training
management).
BB DER RUSIREERN(NRRERRE  FREER)EHDNHT BREKE 92
B3.1 JEEBEDLL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Development and 92
gender and employee category. Training
BB E DER RGN EEERNE D SREETKXIIN TR - HRIE 92
B3.2
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
[ETEBA%5 T4
General Information on: Labour Standards 85
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forces labour.
— MR FE B RAYT I8 T ekoabilss TH) ST AR 85

(@ BR: K
(b) BEFHBEITABEATEMNEBEZEEAN
HER -
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRME) =11 BR
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to  Labour Standards 85
avoid child and forced labour.
BB E DUIER it BB EEARRE T REHISET - 45 TAER] 85
B4.1
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Labour Standards 85
discovered.
BB E DER R B RIBSREER G BB PR TR - 45 THER] 85
B4.2
Operating Practices
EEEN
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
EEBSH B E R
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the  Supply Chain 93
Disclosure supply chain. Management
— MR FE EIRMHEENIRE R R RRBUR - HrEgEER 93
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 93
Management
BB EDIER i@ D HEREA - HrEEER 93
B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,  Supply Chain 94-95
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
BBEDIER MABEREBHEERNED  mEATAREMNHER HERER 94-95
B5.2 HE - ANERRRIT REREIE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental  Supply Chain 94-95
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.
BBEE R R R AEREERE ERGONIRE LA SRLRAEN - HEREE 94-95
B5.3 AR AERRIT R EER A
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Supply Chain 94-95
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, Management
and how they are implemented and monitored.
BB A HER e SRR R B R R (2 22 A IR IR E o R ARTEEOIE I - DA HEsE TR 94-95
B5.4 KRBT RERTA -
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REEREBREXEZREE) -} BX
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility
EmBeEmE E
General Information on: Product Responsibility 96-100
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
— R EE BRAMRHERNRBOREERELZS BES  FEELE EmEE 96-100
FEULEBITER
(@) HXE: K&
(b) BETHETAGEATENHBER LR
BV o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to N/A N/A
recalls for safety and health reasons.
B E NIRRT PENCDEXEmERPALERFIEHMARKNE MEA e A
B6.1 paNs il
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received ~ Product Responsibility 99
and how they are dealt with.
B A IEIR BN E MM RGHIRFE B AR EE X - EmEE 99
B6.2
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting ~ Product Responsibility 99
intellectual property rights.
B E R IEIR F ot B o I ARPE AR EERE B AR 1B A EmEE 99
B6.3
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall  Product Responsibility 96-98
procedures.
BB A IER LB 218 F BIE REmMEBIGRT ° EmAE 96-98
B6.4
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Product Responsibility 99-100
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BB A HEIR HAUE B B ERHRE RALRBECE - WRABRITRERF EREM 99-100
B6.5 Pl
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Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TEHE  BE - - —REERBESERESE(WT) =11 BR
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
EEB7TRE)S
General Information on: Anti-corruption 100-101
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— AR EE BB ILRRES - 1R - HGFROERER RES 100-101
(@ BX: Kk
(b) ETFHBEITABEATZEERERE LA
HER} -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption 100-101
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
B A IEIR RERBAHBETASEEEREIEELNEGHAR RES 100-101
B7.1 VB E KRR -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Anti-corruption 100-101
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B E NIRRT TP S PE R RIZ T - U RABBEBI T RER 0% o RER 100-101
B7.2
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors ~ Anti-corruption 100-101
and staff.
BB E DIER flmES KB TIRHORETE - RES 100-101
B7.3
Aspect B8 Community Investment
[EEB8HEIRE
General Policies on community engagement to understand the Community 101-102
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to investment
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
— MR HEER FENHER2HERTREEMEHERTENRREERE HRRKRE 101-102
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRE

Page
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section number
TEHE - BH  —REERBERENISEIED =68 'R
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental ~ Community 101-102
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). investment
FASR A BUEIE HIEEEB(HME BRRBEE - SLIEK - -#F X HERE 101-102
BS.1 1t~ 888) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus Community 101-102
area. investment
FRERIER THEFEHISHEAER(MEEER) © HERIEE 101-102
B8.2
Note: BifeE

1. All general disclosures and KPIs under “Subject Area A. Environmental” 1. [E2ERARG IR TR2HEBMLE BTHME

and “Subject Area B. Social” are “comply or explain” provisions which —Qﬁﬁ&@ﬁi@%&ﬂﬁ%fzﬁ%%iﬁ CHERER
set out in the ESG Guide. FESIPE BT RLAREE |53 -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

iR SCTE: S

.
pwec

To the Shareholders of GC Construction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of GC Construction Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 120 to 199, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Bk KB

GC Construction Holdings Limited i85
(REEREEMAZHNERAE)

=R
EFEETHRR

GC Construction Holdings Limited (LA T ESTE[ &
RE D REMBRABATHRE E£E DHIER
F1202199E VR IMTEHREK - BFE

o 20243 A31HHEGRAMBEIAE

s RAEUBHMRME BREASHBRE
B R EMREEES

EMNWER

BMRE  ZEREVBEREREBRETBEETAD
NEEMAKBEBYBHRELEADEEMF SR
BT EH£EEMN2024F3A31HRGA MR
LEEBZEZBEFENGEMBRBELMIAES
e WEEREB(AMEIDOREREE S
it o

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

S GE B G RTHE BT - Bl PR T E 221
Hilr - +852 2289 8888 » [HFL - +852 2810 9888 > www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FREITEE W)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition on construction contracts.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

Refer to Notes 4 (a) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue from
construction contracts was approximately HK$585.2
million.

Revenue from construction contract is recognised over
the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation on the basis of the actual costs incurred by
the Group up to the year-end date as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each project.

The total estimated costs are prepared by the internal
quantity surveyors with reference to cost structure
of the Group’s completed projects of similar size
and specifications, quotation from suppliers and
subcontractors and the latest actual costs incurred.
The progress for each project are reassessed by
management at each reporting date.

We focused on this area due to the relative
significance of revenue recognised from construction
contracts to the consolidated financial statements
and thus significant audit time and resources were
devoted in this area. Judgement and estimation are
also involved when assessing the progress of work
performed and the profit margin.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on
construction contracts included:

e  Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal
control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement;

e  Evaluated and validated, on a sample basis, key internal
control procedures over revenue recognition on
construction contracts;

e Examine the key terms of the construction contracts
on a sample basis and assessed the Group’s revenue
recognition policies to evaluate whether they are in
accordance with the relevant accounting standards;

e Tested, on a sample basis, the costs incurred during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and performed cutoff
testing, on a sample basis, by checking to the relevant
underlying documents supporting these costs;

e  Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and stage of completion; and

e Performed analysis, on a sample basis, by comparing
the initial project margin and the final project margin
of completed projects to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation.

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found that
the Group's revenue recognised from construction contracts
were supported by the evidence obtained.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the GC Construction Holdings Limited 2024 Annual
Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained
some of the other information including management discussion
and analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining
other information, including corporate information, financial
highlights, chairman’s statement, biography of directors and senior
management, corporate governance report, report of the directors,
environmental, social and governance report, summary of financial
information and the other sections to be included in the annual
report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEETHBRAR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Revenue WA 5 585,170 541,648
Cost of services BRFGAK AN 7 (543,327) (476,127)
Gross profit EF 41,843 65,521
Other income EHugA 6 102 18,743
Administrative expenses TR 7 (20,733) (20,605)
Listing expenses WX = (6,951)
Impairment losses on trade receivables and & 5 EURFIA N AN EE
contract assets BIEEE 3.1(a) (625) (439)
Operating profit gm0 20,587 56,269
Finance income BRI 10 2,287 1,006
Finance costs B AR 10 (114) (540)
Finance income, net MBMONFR =1 466 _
Profit before income tax expense MRS BB X AR A 22,760 56,735
Income tax expense FriSfif 11 (3,691) (7,407)

Profit and total comprehensive income Z<A F#HE AELER
for the year attributable to owners of HEFIRZMEUIAELE

the Company 19,069 49,328
Earnings per share attributable to EAREEAELEER

owners of the Company &7
Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents R R #5E (AR

per share) FIR) 12 1.9 5.7

okr
e S|
S

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMTH{ 3T R % S47 A M SRR H)—+
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R BN R

As at 31 March 2024 20243531 H

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment R 7% 14 3,808 3,113
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 827 328
Deposits birsn 18 184 -
4,819 3,441
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables =) e 18 76,038 53,704
Contract assets BHEE 19 214,508 196,845
Other receivables, deposits and HibRUIE - 11e Rk
prepayments TERTFRIE 18 4,758 6,330
Amount due from immediate holding JEW B B RIR A B RIE
company 25(d) 97 65
Tax recoverable AR EIF IR 2,497 -
Short-term bank deposit R HRERITE AR 20 50,000 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 20 31,871 47,942
379,769 354,886
Total assets EEH#E 384,588 358,327
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the AAREE AELER
Company
Share capital N 21 10,000 10,000
Reserves &1 315,819 296,750
Total equity ERBE 325,819 306,750

2023/24 F3R o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e R R

As at 31 March 2024 20243 /H31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
LIABILITIES =V
Non-current liabilities FkFRBaE
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 370 -
Deferred tax liabilities REBIBEE 16 316 320
686 320
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SN FRIE 22 33,230 21,870
Accruals and other payables FEETE A KA T IE 22 21,821 18,950
Contract liabilities A48 E 19 2,496 3,076
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 536 353
Bank borrowings RITER 23 - 5,634
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTIS R B (& - 1,374
58,083 51,257
Total liabilities EE8E 58,769 51,577
Total equity and liabilities EERkEERE 384,588 358,327

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 199 were  £120E 1998 WG A VKR EHEET 2R 2024

approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2024 and were  FgHA24FHETHIATEEAREE -
signed on its behalf.

Chan Kiu Sum Chan Wing Ping
BRAS R RR K
Director Director

= -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMTF 3T HERK Z S 47 A WIS HRER B — 8D o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
pey e B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Share Share Retained
capital premium earnings Total
BA  RORE BEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FA&T FAET FH&T FAT
(Note 21)
(BtEE21)
Balance at 1 April 2022 R2022F4 51 B 390 - 142,066 142,456
Profit and total comprehensive FEBMNREEWALLLE
income for the year - - 49,328 49,328
Shares issued in the Initial Public ~ REXARAEE ([ EHAAH
Offerings (“IPO") BE BTG 2,500 122,500 - 125,000
Capitalisation issue of shares RID EAR(LEEFT 7,110 (7,110) - -
Share issuance costs AR BEA TR AR - (10,034) - (10,034)
Balance at 31 March 2023 M2023F3 A31 AW 10,000 105,356 191,394 306,750
Balance at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 1B 10,000 105,356 191,394 306,750
Profit and total comprehensive FERNREEBALEE
income for the year - - 19,069 19,069
Balance at 31 March 2024 R2024F3 A31 HM & 10,000 105,356 210,463 325,819

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMTH T HERK Z S 47 A WIS HER N — 8D o
financial statements.

2023/24 % e GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

123



124

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SARSRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 Z{Z22024F3 31 H I F/&

Cash flows from operating activities

2024
20245

HK$@00

RETHRERERE

2023
20234
HK$'000
FBT

Net cash used in operations R TP & 55 24(a) (2,878) (33,733)
Income tax paid, net EASFTIS SR (7,566) (6,575)
Net cash used in operating activities CETEBFTRIR© F5E (10,444) (40,308)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBHRBRERE
Purchase of plant and equipment BEME K& 14 (2,445) (2,542)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HERE KR EFTE

equipment KIB - 8
(Advance to)/repayment from immediate M EEIZER AR (B

holding company #830),/ W BlIER (32) 372
Increase in short-term bank deposit R ERSRT T SRAZ N = (50,000)
Finance income received B U 3,037 73
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing & EBIFT1S, (Fr/)
Cactvities ReA® 60 (52,089
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEERERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERPISIE 24(c) - 19,100
Repayments of bank borrowings ERIRITIER 24(c) (5.634) (13,466)
Payment for principal and interest of lease ~ FAEBEAS RF S

liabilities 24(c) (451) (537)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BATHIAR (D P 5RIE 21(a) - 125,000
Payment of listing expenses B AN 24(c) - (6,050)
Finance cost paid BB SR (102) (513)
Repayment to a director M—BEFEXK 24(c) - (10,741)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing RY& &8N (FTA), /g
actvities Reg® ... a18) 112,793
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%{“%

equivalents W), iR (16,071) 20,396
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ﬁ%ﬂiﬁé&fﬁi\%f‘i%

the year 47,942 27,546
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FREERBELZEY

year 20 31,871 47,942
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMTH 3T HERK Z S 47 A WIS HER B — 8D o

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B I ERARMRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under Companies
Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are engaged in the provision of wet trades works to public or
private residential and commercial properties in Hong Kong.
The ultimate holding company of the Company is Evolve Billion
Limited (“Evolve Billion”). The ultimate controlling shareholders
of the Group are Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (“Mr. KS Chan") and Mr.
Chan Wing Ping (“Mr. WP Chan").

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (“HKSE”) on 10 October
2022.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Company Ordinance Cap.
622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z202443H31HIFF/E

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) New standard and amendments to existing

standards adopted by the Group

The following new standard and amendments to existing
standards are mandatory for the first time for the financial
year beginning 1 April 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative

Information

The adoption of these new standard and amendments to
existing standards did not result in any substantial change
to the Group’s accounting policies. The new standard and
amendments to existing standards listed above had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

2 REEZE
() ZEBEMHFEARBEE

RAEET A

AN A7R2023F4 A1 H AR B E
& B IRE B AR R T2 IR A %)
1BR]AN

BRAGHEUFER  SHBEREE

REBTE®RE

A ERREL 2R

(BETA)

BEGIERESY oAt IER

(BETA)

ERSTENENE BE-JIZEAN

(BETA) EERAERE
RIEER A

BEGQHEAE2% BEEHeE -

(BETA) = RERA

BEMBHREEN  RBRAY

F175%

BEVBHREER BHRERBREUS

E175 (BRI A) WEEME175%
REBG RS
HERFE —

Rz EmER MR B ERERT AL
BHAEERABRRBRERNERE
&) o EXHIIMFER R AL E
RIS ANTRRLBEATE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z20243 531 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 REEXEm)
(b) © 78 4 3t B2 Z< £ [ AH BE B A

(b) Amendments to existing standards and
interpretation that have been issued and
are relevant to the Group but not effective
for the financial year beginning 1 April
2023 and have not been early adopted

2023F 41 H BB N EE
EHALEMESLEREREZRH
WIRBEAET AR ZE

Effective for
annual periods

beginning

on or after

N> NI=R: Egd

BEBRNFED

BEM
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1 April 2024

current

FREEHEREIRUEFTA) MBHGEREBREZ DI 20244 A1 H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 April 2024
BEEGTERIE 1R (BFTA) MmRAERBEE 2024F4R1H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 April 2024
BBV BREEAFE 169 (EFTA) EREENEERE 202454 71H
HK Int5 (Revised) Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation 1 April 2024

of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayments on Demand Clause
BEREEST (KIERT) BEREESH (KB VBRMRER —ERXAE 2024F481H
HERBREEGRZBRERZ S

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement 1 April 2024

BAGFERETRRBEBMBRE HESRERH 202454 R 1H
ERIETR(EFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 April 2025

BB mEERE 2158 UEFTA) Rz AT R 202547 1H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined

HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture
BERVBRELERNF1OREELSFT REFHERERAINEGELERCEEHER AT

HERIE 285 (BRI A) TE

The directors of the Group are in the process of assessing
the financial impact of the adoption of the above
amendments to standards and interpretation, and do
not expect them to have a material impact in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions. The directors of the Group will adopt the
amendments to standards and interpretation when they
become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
e

B ¥ #RaR Bl 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group'’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operations of the Group, no hedging
activity is undertaken by management.

(a) Credit risk
(i) Risk management

The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term bank deposit, trade
receivables, amount due from immediate
holding company, deposits and other
receivables and contract assets included in the
consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

Management considers the Group has limited
credit risk with its banks which are leading and
reputable and their external credit ratings are of
investment grades. Majority of bank balances
are deposited with reputable banks. The Group
has not incurred significant loss from non-
performance by these parties in the past and
management does not expect so in the future.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEREBREREm
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 Bfi%E e R &= @)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) GEREE &)
(i) Risk management (continued) (i) EEEEE)

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. The procedures focus on the
evaluations on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer, such as its financial
position, past experience and other factors, as
well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is exposed to
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets from the Group’s five
largest customers amounting to approximately
HK$182,454,000 (2023: HK$182,309,000) and
accounted for approximately 62% (2023: 73%)
of the total trade receivables and contract assets
balance. The major customers of the Group
are reputable organisations and with good
repayment history. Management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

The Group's other financial assets at amortised
cost are considered to be low risk. Management
has closely monitored the credit qualities and
the collectability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i B SRR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

=
e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
(ii) Impairment of assets

The Group has six types of assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model:

e  trade receivables;
e contract assets;

e other receivables at amortised cost;

e amount due from immediate holding
company;

e  cash and cash equivalents; and
e short-term bank deposit.

While cash and cash equivalents and short-term
bank deposit are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial as the relevant
banks’ external credit ratings are of investment
grades.

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group applies simplified approach
prescribed by HKFRS 9 to measuring expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The contract assets relate to
unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for
the contract assets.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 ZZ2024F3 /31 H 1FF/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEREBREREm
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 Bfi%E e R &= @)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERERE &)

(ii) Impairment of assets (continued) (ii) ZEBi{E (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets EZRWFEREGHNEE
(continued) (&)

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of revenue over a period of
12 months before each reporting period end
and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within each reporting period. The
historical loss rates are also adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors (i.e. GDP and
employment rate) affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Based on management assessment, the
provision for impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2024
is approximately HK$1,444,000 (2023:
HK$819,000).

On that basis, the loss allowance as at end
of each reporting period was determined as
follows for trade receivables.

2023/24 3R o

BHIEERENEREHR
A1 218 A B WA B 01T
R R HIRE MRS AR
EREEEER - BEER
RNSIELRE - URBRE
ERPEMNEUGRIARE DK
FEREBERZ(PIWBERE
ERENMMEXR)NER K
AIREIEE RS o

REEBEENW BHE
WRIE R & #) 8 BE 72024
FIA3NABRERE AL
1,444,000 7 T (2023 4
819,000/ L) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBREEm)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 iRk EE @)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EEERE &)
(ii) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) ZEHE®E)
Trade receivables and contract assets ESRWFEREHNEE
(continued) (&)
At 31 March 2024 72024%3H31H

Pastdue Pastdue
within 31 to 60

Trade receivables Current 30 days days
g BN
B 5 WA BN 30KA EX{IPS

Gross carrying amount BRI 48 {8

(HK$'000) (FHAT) 34372 34415 4732 3,400 76,919
Expected creditloss ~ FBEFfEE

rates BEx 0.3% 0.7% 2.9% 11.2%
Loss allowance BEEE

(HK$'000) (F%&L) (116) (247) (138) (380) (881)

Net carrying amount  BREF(E

(HK$'000) (F/7T) 34,256 34,168 4,594 3,020 76,038
At 31 March 2023 K202393A31H

Past due  Past due

within 31 to 60 Over
Trade receivables Current 30 days days 60 days
BEl @3 %60 HA
B 5 RIHIE BNER 30KA Z60K {BA60K
Gross carrying IRAERE
amount (HK$'000)  (F&T) 50,300 2,816 - 858 53,974
Expected credit loss FEEAZE
rates EEE 03% 1.2% - 111%
Loss allowance iR
(HK$'000) (F#&T) (140) (35) - (95) (270)
Net carrying amount ERTEIFE
(HK$'000) (F%7T) 50,160 2,781 - 763 53,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIREREREm

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 B REkEEE @)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EEERE &)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) ZE Bl 1E (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets EZRWFEREGHNEE
(continued) (&)
On a similar basis as above, the loss allowance FHERE  AREENE
was determined as follows for contract assets. BEEBETENT

As at 31 March

M3H31H
Contract assets 2024
BHREE 2024%F
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BREIZAE(TETT) 215,071 197,394
Expected credit loss rates TEAMEEREX 0.3% 0.3%
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EiERE(TET) (563) (549)
Net carrying amount (HK$'000)  BRELFE(THIT) 214,508 196,845
The loss allowance provision for trade B2 RE SR IE A B EY
receivables and contract assets reconciles to the 548 Y 5 4B 4 R 2 BB 45 ) P
opening loss allowance for that provision as VBB EEENT
follows:
Trade Contract
receivables assets Total
BEZEW
;IE BREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FHETT
As at 1 April 2022 M2022%4718 166 214 380
Provision for impairment BB 104 335 439

As at 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31H X

1 April 2023 202354 A1H 270 549 819
Provision for impairment BERE 611 14 625
As at 31 March 2024 202453 H31H 881 563 1,444
The Group also assess the reasonableness of NREB B BL2ESERF
the provision amount by making reference to BN B AT 1512 BB R SR 8
publicly available credit information about its BEEETLIR o
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (continued)
Other receivables at amortised cost

Other receivables at amortised cost mainly
represents other receivables and deposits in
well-known companies. Management considers
that its credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current
financial position. The impairment provision is
determined based on the 12-month expected
credit loss which is immaterial.

Amount due from immediate holding

company

The directors consider the credit risk on the
amount due from immediate holding company
is low as no default payment was noted.

(b) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Most of the income and expenditures of the
Group are denominated in HK$, being the
functional currency of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group, and hence, the Group
does not have any material foreign exchange

risk exposure.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

BRERERE @
3.1 B#E S EE @
(b) THEE &)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Market risk (continued)

(iij) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from short-
term bank deposit, cash at banks and bank
borrowings. Bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposit. The interest rate profile of short-term
bank deposit and bank borrowings are disclosed
in Note 20 and Note 23 respectively. The bank
deposit generates interest at the prevailing
market interest rates.

At 31 March 2024, if interest rates had been
50 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year then ended would
have been approximately HK$342,000 (2023:
HK$385,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest income on cash at banks.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to

(i) BE£HEFIZRE

N2 B /0 FI) R [ BR OR B A2 HB
IRITFR - IRITIRE RIRTT
B3 - UFENFIREEITAVR
TEFEAEERRIRSR
EFREAR - ZEBID W
RITIFRATIKREY o RHAERTT
TF R R AR TTHE FRE R R4S
BRI EE20 R 5E 233 4%
B o SRITERARITHISH
REEHR B o

M2024%3H318 » filF| =
EFTRHSOEES W
FTE Bt &Sz T - 8
REBHEZBIEFEDN
B B 18 i B HE 1L 00T B
#9342,0007% 7T (2023
385,000/&7T) * TIEZBER
RITIRSMF B U AL,
TFEFTER ©

(c) Bt
mEERREEANEERBEN

meet its obligations when they fall due, resulting RN RN UC A BB A E
from amount and maturity mismatches of assets and BN R EERITERBNE
liabilities. B o

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to
manage liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of
cash required and monitoring the Group's working
capital to ensure that all liabilities due and known
funding requirements could be met. In order to meet
their liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders and drawdown available bank
facilities. Further, management performs monthly
review of receivables and payables ageing analysis
to ensure the Group is able to maintain sufficient
financial resources to meet its liquidity requirements
and to follow up on any overdue balances.

2023/24 3R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 Z{Z22024F3 31 H I F/&

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBREEm)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 B s E b A & @)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEEREEE &)

The table below analyses the financial liabilities of
the Group into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interests payments computed using contractual
rates, or if floating, based on the current rates at
the period-end date). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives
the lender the unconditional right to call the loan
at any time, the amounts repayable are classified
in the earliest time bracket in which the lender
could demand repayment. The maturity analysis for
remaining financial liabilities is prepared based on
the scheduled repayment dates.

As at 31 March 2024

TRZGEVMBHRAKBERAE
%U%EW%T%W%$EEM
TERABES T AEBEIEAER -
ERPABEENSEAALNR
BRBReRE(BREAEGHOF
- wWEEE - AIERERMY
WITFEFTERHFIEAA) o 1§
BERMEPESRERKEENK
R RRIERE T E AR
AT R R B I E SRR
AIEEENSERBAERAT
TRERORFER - A TS/
BEMEIHE ST IRESEIE
FAH,H\H%FE%°

202453 H31H

(o]}} Within Over

demand 1 year 1 year Total

BER 1FER BB1E F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TR

Trade payables H S FRIE - 33,230 - 33,230
Accruals and other fEFTE A R EAD

payables FERTF0E - 18,720 = 18,720
Lease and interest HMERFMENK

payments = 562 374 936

- 52,512 374 52,886
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIREREREm

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BB EREEE @
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) TEMEEE &)
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H
On Within Over
demand 1 year 1 year Total
RER 1R A1 F ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THTT TATT TATT
Trade payables B S IR - 21,870 - 21,870
Accruals and other JEET B R N EAD
payables FES IR - 15,984 - 15,984
Lease and interest
payments HERFENTK - 358 - 358
Bank borrowings HEER 5,634 - - 5,634
5,634 38,212 - 43,846
The table below summarises the maturity analysis TR MBIEE S TEm
of bank borrowings of the Group with a repayment BTEHEEEG e SR EREHR
on demand clause based on agreed scheduled HANEBSRITEZER D E A
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The S o ZESBEIFEFERAASLNT
amounts include interest payments computed KAEWF BN - By - b=
using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts SEEN FRAASHEIE R SHE
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the [RESK | — IR ENLEE -

“on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained in the above table.

Within 1 year

1R

HK$°000

THET

As at 31 March 2024 202453 H31H =
As at 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 5,727
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

3 HERBREEm)
3.2 EXERER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group mainly
uses equity to finance its operations. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt or repay borrowings when cash received from non-
trade receivables. Also, the Group continues to monitor
and maintain the sufficiency of banking facilities for its
operations.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities less
cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposit.
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net
debt.

The gearing ratio were as follows:

AEEEREANKN R RERRAE
BARNFERE  UABREMED
BEREMNETHEREEN I
BRHE(CEARRERE  KRDER
A - REBTEERRASELE
RIHEESD - BEFIGHAREARARE
AEBEAEERAEIRN TRRAOBRE
T MRRREER - BITHEN
HHEBENRDEBIXRAIEES
P& LS 7 TR MR BRR B R B R o i
Oh - REBBBER MR ZEM
FHIRITEERE -

HEFREMAF] - AREREE
ERELEREREEN - ZLXRE
BRERUNENRRGE - BIFFR
wpEFeRkEEaERRE RS
EBEWARERRITFHRGE - ERX
BB B M BAORKR R 2R
S IMETSFRERTHE

BEABLERNT

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Bank borrowings RITER 23 - 5,634

Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 906 353
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and i : 3i& RIRE&EEY

short-term bank deposit LA R 52 HR$RAT

=N 20 (81,871) (97,942)

Net cash R Fr (80,965) (91,955)

Total equity MR 325,819 306,750

Total capital = AR 244,854 214,795

Gearing ratio BEBRAELE N/ATE A N/AT 3 F

The gearing ratio is N/A because the Group is in a net
cash position.

HRAEERSHREFER  WEESR
BRI B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEREBREREm

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A{EMET

The different levels of financial instruments carried at fair EAFEFAENSR T AN TRER

value have been defined as follows: REWMOT :

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o RBEENBENEERMSEZ®R
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BEOREFHE)(F1R) °

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o WEHEBEBAMEAEBR)IMEE(AD
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either HEBGSL)BRINEESE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived B ABIE (F 1R RN RER
from prices) (level 2). SN (EB24%) o

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on o TERABERMBEBEMNEELN
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) BERASEITABREA
(level 3). ) (834%) »

The carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and BRNZESR T ANHEERITE -

liabilities are reasonable approximation to their fair values rEEEREENRBENRAEGE

due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial TR AR FE -

instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial

liabilities

The following table presents the recognised financial

instruments that are offset.

As at 31 March 2024

A2024F3A31H

3 MXRBEEEREm

BA4EHERMEERSRERE

TREJNEEAFENCHASHMTA -

Gross
amounts

HK$'000
TR

Gross
amounts set
off in the
consolidated
statement
of financial

position

RE MR
RAPIKHH
HK$'000
THEIT

Net amounts
presented

in the
consolidated
statement
of financial
position
FEBBERR
RPZHH
R

HK$'000
FAET

Financial assets TRIBE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ EfhfEUFIE « £ 4

prepayments SEEUNE s 21,224 (16,282) 4,942
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade payables B SN RIA 49,512 (16,282) 33,230
As at 31 March 2023 2023438318
Financial assets TRIEE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ EMEWFIE - Z&

prepayments EEE 20,048 (13,718) 6,330
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade payables E S ENRIE 35,588 (13,718) 21,870
Note: As at 31 March 2024, other receivables from ML : PA2024%F3A31H © REAEE

HEEPHNANRESBENE
BEARITERED - D BEDW
HipFoa (BB ERAE N
BT ARSBBHKA)EERBR—2
BRENE S RN FAREE (2023
F - HER) -

subcontractors which represents labour costs of site
workers directly settled by the Group, are offset against
trade payables to the same subcontractor pursuant
to the Group’s contracts with its customers and
arrangements with subcontractors, as well as industry
practice (2023: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue according to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation
of the individual contract of wet trade works. The
progress is determined by the aggregated cost for the
individual performance obligation incurred at the end
of the reporting period compared with the estimated
budgeted cost. Management’'s estimation of the cost
incurred to date and the budgeted cost is primarily based
on construction contract budget and actual cost report
prepared by internal quantity surveyors, where applicable.
Corresponding revenue from contract work is also
estimated by management based on the progress and
estimated revenue which contains variable consideration.
Because of the nature of the activities undertaken in the
construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation
of both transaction price and contract cost in the budget
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses.

Judgement is required in estimating the total contract
costs which may have an impact on percentage of
completion of the construction contracts and profit
to be recognised in an accounting period. In addition,
actual outcome in terms of total revenue or costs may
be higher or lower than estimation at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

2023/24 F3R
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& BiEAERROGERBERS
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SRR T SRt

>|-
%i’t)
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Fﬁ#@éﬁ&ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬂﬁ %
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Ruftes RN ERRE RO
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TaFEBHESEARSREMNTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables and

(9]

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
whether trade receivables and contract assets are
impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit
losses from each customer. In making the judgement,
management considers a wide range of factors such
as results of follow-up procedures, customer payment
trends including subsequent payments, customers’
financial positions and expected future change of credit
risks, including consideration of factors such as general
economy measure, changes in macro-economic indicators,
etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(a)(ii).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

4 BRESTHEFTRHEE @

(b) EZEUFERENEERE

(9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

The executive directors are identified as the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM") of the Group who review the
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

The Group's revenue is derived from provision of wet trades
works in Hong Kong and accordingly, there is only one single

operating segment for the Group under HKFRS 8.

(a) Revenue

Wet trades work JeK TR

WA R EBER
HITEFHRERIEEIBZEEARARE
(TEERERERE])  BEBRRLAEEN
R E ARHEE R B A ECEIR

AEBENRARBERETBRHIAEKT
2 Rt RIBFBMEHEERFEST -
AEBEE—EEFNEEDE -

(@) WA

Year ended 31 March

HBE3A3MBLLEE
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

585,170 541,648

All of the Group's revenue is recognised over time.

(b) Revenue from major customers

Revenue individually generated from the following
customers contributed more than 10% of the total
revenue of the Group:

Customer 1 =P
Customer 2 =2
Customer 3 EF3
Customer 4 EP4
Customer 5 ®F5

REBE T NRABR —BREE A E

w3 °

(b) REEEEFHWA

LWTEFEREEHRAENEER
WA BEA10% A E -

Year ended 31 March

HBZE3A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
113,510 60,602
90,645 74,414
87,826 65,004
84,283 N/AZ 8 i *
N/ATIE A * 58,049

* Represent less than 10% of revenue for the respective year.

All of the Group's revenue are generated in Hong Kong.

2023/24 3R

* EERSBEFENRANI0% °

AEERBENRAIRBBESL °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WAKRZEHER @

(continued)

(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) PHEERAER
The Group monitors its total assets and liabilities centrally REBIRE —KEnHEPERE]
in one single operating segment. All of the Group's non- ERAE AEEFRBIFRBDEEY
current assets are located in Hong Kong. REH °

(d) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (d) MENEBERHEA
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised related TRINRHEES OB EHERBEUA -

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT T

Revenue recognised that was included in ~ FFAFHE N B EEHIE

the contract liability balance at the FRUA

beginning of the year

— Wet trades works — BRI 3,076 887

(e) Unsatisfied long-term construction (e) REITRHEEESY

contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRINKRZEANMELENRE
obligations resulting from long-term construction TRAOEE -
contracts.

As at 31 March
M3H31R
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Aggregate amount of the transaction price  NFERDBELERBITRE

allocated to long-term construction BEAVNR SHERRBE
contracts that are unsatisfied as at year
ended 564,826 621,476
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 220243 H31H I F/Z

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARZEHER @

(continued)

(e) Unsatisfied long-term construction
contracts (continued)

Management expects that the transaction prices regarding
the unsatisfied contracts at the end of year will be
recognised as revenue by referencing to the schedule
below:

(e) RETRHEESN®@

EREE  RFERBBERETALN
R HERE2EUTRRERERR
WA

As at 31 March

MA3H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$"000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Within 1 year 1R 481,413 442,790
Over 1 year HRm1F 83,413 178,686
564,826 621,476

(f) Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services rendered in the normal course of business.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost
plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach,
depending on the availability of observable information.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
good or service is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the good or service may be
transferred over time or at a point in time.

2023/24 3R

(f) MARRHNSETBER
WARE Wk U K E MR FER
B BN —REBBEPARMAR
T H FEUTRIR -

WA KT MHEZERE - XBEH
REEBYBYEEIEERENE
T MBZERBESHELEE

ARFEIARA A B R SRR B EHE
Mg E AR RFELAERE
FHMZE °

WARE R RF R HIREREP
B (SkBLUL) HER - RFAWIERKE
HER AR - B ek IRTS e R
AR R BN R AR RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
e

B ¥ #RaR Bl 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(f) Accounting policies of revenue recognition

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

(continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the asset. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are
described below.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

e the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation relative to the total
expected efforts or inputs.

5 WARDIHER @

() WAV TEE @)

HARENELOBATER - AER
K ARTS I HIERE B R R R M EE

o IRHHIATE RIS E P R B UEL
FOBRE

s RAKEEANRRIZIEREF
EHIHEE X

o URAEEAKEAAEKAZE
MBE RAKEE R BITHEIK
BES DR ELRDHFRIA

i & R HI R E R R EMER -
A2REREEBRNETNEERA
HWHEINERWA - B REPEUE
BEZHIROR BRI ERKA -
B R ARER RO R E IR T 3Rt -

TERITEAOEENERTIRE T
Hh -t A REETREOA
ERRBRTETE

s HEMEARERNEFPEBHNIE
B8k

s AEERETERAOEEMNLEE S
A RE MBI B AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSZEER @)

(continued)

(f) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(continued)

(i) Revenue from provision of wet trades

) WMARBRNETEE @)
(i) BHEATEZUA

works

Revenue from provision of wet trades works is
recognised over time as the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The Group has applied the input method
in recognising the revenue from construction
contracts over time by reference to the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction on a performance
obligation (for example, subcontracting fees, cost of
materials and toolings) relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation.

The payment terms differed for different customers
due to the variety of projects. Most of the payment is
payable according to the stage of construction with
credit term of 14-60 days. 5% of the contract price
is recognised as retention receivables, which would
be paid after the retention period expires. The Group
does not intend to give financing to customers and
the Group makes efforts to collect the receivables
and timely monitor the credit risk.

2023/24 F3R

RAKENEDERANRER
EEEWRA R R B H
BESERTENBRT - Z2H]
Tk TRRU A BERS R RERR o AR £=
BEERBARAZL2RAEE Y
ERBHRE(HIONBEE M
R R TERA) PR H s A
(HENBERYEXBEOEETH
BIERA)BEREERZEANHK
Ao

HETRER - TRAFEFHXN
KRB AR - KEFD FIAAR
ERIEERSN  FEEHRI4E
60K - BAIEMNS% EWIRE AL
ERRRERE S - ARNMRER
BB o REBABAEFP
RHERE - BASE DK E R
EMEREEEERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(f) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(continued)

(i) Revenue from provision of wet trades

works (continued)

For construction contracts with fixed price, the
Group recognises the revenue in accordance with
the contract price on the basis of the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation. The Group considers the input method
better depicts the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of services to its customers.

The Group accounts for a modification if the
customers to a contract approve a change in the
scope and/or the price of a contract. A contract
modification is approved when the modification
creates or changes the enforceable rights and
obligations of the customers to the contract. If the
customers have approved a change in scope but
have not yet determined the corresponding change
in price, the Group estimates the change to the
contract price as a variable consideration.

For construction contracts that contain variable
consideration such as variations in contract work,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled using the expected
value method. The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the construction contract
only to the extent that it is highly probable that such
an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARZEHER @

(continued)

(f) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(continued)

(ij) Existence of significant financing

) WMARBRNETEE @)
(i) ZEEABEZS

component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customers or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer or
services to the customers. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed by the parties of the
contracts.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does not have
a significant financing component in circumstances
where payments are in accordance with the typical
payment terms of the relevant industry, which has a
primary purpose other than financing.

2023/24 F3R

RETER S ERE - NiHER
R A (T am AR R e B R =)
HEFPHARERATFE RN
RIBEFERERERF - AIAE
EenERRREENTEMHA
EEAGOREDR - £%FE
AT BHBEEEARERD -
BB A EER NTRER
T BEERNTOTHENN
RIEFFRE - AREFEEXN
BEHD

BE EXFr At - Wi R IIAR
IRARRATT R A — AR IR FRIA Bl
BN EZ B EMmAEL - RIS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HMKA
Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31HLEFE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Employment Support Scheme (Note a) RELZEETEI(M5Ta) - 18,296

Youth Employment and Training BEREREIETE

Programme (Note b) (Kt7EDb) 102 408
Other EAth - 39
102 18,743

Notes: BifsE

(@ Amount represents wage subsidy granted under Employment () ZEBERENHERNVERESETRMET
Support Scheme of the Anti-Epidemic Fund. Subsidies are offered BIEMNITEEM - EREXNEELRE
to employers who have employed regular employees and paid TR ES MR SRR ERHAL - 72022
MPF for them. Wage subsidies were granted to the Group for the FE5AE202F7 AR - AEEERTE
use of paying wages and MPF of regular employees from May AL AUNENEXEETERARES ©
2022 to July 2022.

(b) Amount represents wage subsidy granted under Youth b) ZeBEREBESEREREIGFEIESF
Employment and Training Programme (“YETP”). Funds are BERIFAETEI ) B R TEERL - K&
granted to the Group for employing trainees under the YETP. The B R RS T ERIFIET 8 I
Group is entitled to HK$1,500 salary allowance per month for ANE - AEEBHFGEA—BZIAB
each trainee employed (2023: same). A A] S E1,5007% 7T #Y % 2 Bk (2023

& JBR) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 RMEEINEX
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FBTT
Cost of materials and toolings R TARAK 65,544 45,384
Subcontracting fees DEER 437,507 383,519
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ 18 @8I (BIEEEHE)
remuneration) (Note 8) (PfisE8) 36,103 39,204
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services RN G — T RTS 1,700 2,000
Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 14) &= & =& E (Hi3E14) 1,750 1,131
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {£# & EHE (Hf5E15) 493 492
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 15) E35ZHAfHE AR
(BIzE15) 2,589 5,170
Insurance IRE2 369 477
Repair and maintenance ACYSF 1,242 884
Entertainment expenses B EER 2 2,969 2,712
Consultation services A ARTS 457 438
Legal and professional fees EEREXER 1,821 1,107
Motor vehicles expenses B 908 609
Other expenses E Ao 10,608 13,605
Total cost of services and administrative ARISRC AN R AT P S AR R
expenses 564,060 496,732
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8 EEGIBX(EZIEEE#M<)
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

Year ended 31 March
HBZE3H31ALLEE
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TH&T

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other welfare e IE - A kHA

and allowances B MR, 34,862 37,857
Pension costs — defined contribution plan RIRE AR — TE R RET & 1,241 1,347
36,103 39,204

Representing: BIE
Cost of services &R 25,490 26,992
Administrative expenses TR 10,613 12,212
36,103 39,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

9 EEwEMRAZ

(a) EEM=

The remuneration of each director paid/payable for each
of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 were set out

below:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE2023F K2024F3A31HIEFE
BF BN/ ENSESHFIE W
T

BZE2024F3A831HLLEE

Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
BHR EEmBRAEA
35 fg #e RistaL ENEN RS gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén Tén T T T
Erecutive director and chief ATEERRAR
executive: AE:
Mr. KS Chan RiERLE - 2,898 522 - 5 3425
Frecutive directors: HTEE:
Mr. WP Chan RkTEE - 888 204 - 18 1,110
Ms. Chan Chui Ying (Note &) RER/MA(Ma) - 8 - - 3 8
Independent non-executive BUFHEE
drectors:
Dr. Huang Hong BT 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Yu Chi Wing B it 180 - - - - 180
Dr. LoKi Chiu EESIEL 180 - - - - 180
Dr. Luk Che Chung, /7 BEEREE - 1t
(Note a) ViED)) 30 = = = = 30
Total i 570 3,869 126 - 26 5,191
Note: 3T

(@)  Appointed on 5 February 2024.

2023/24 F3R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEEFRFZ
(continued)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

(a)

(b)

(9]

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

(a)

EEME @
HE2023F3A831BILFE

Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit
Name of directors Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme Total
EE3 T e - Bigfa ENGA B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00 HK$'000
Thr Thr Thr Th ThL Th
Brecutive diector and chief HIEERRER
executive: AE:
Mr. KS Chan BRERLE - 2,671 2,276 - 18 4,965
Frecutive diector: Hi7zZ:
Mr. WP Chan RkTak - 888 607 - 18 1513
Indeoendent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors;
Dr. Huang Hong BIET 90 - - - - 90
Mr. Yu Chi Wing TERE 90 - - - - 90
Dr. LoKi Chiu ERSIET 90 - - - - 90
Total ozt 270 3,559 2,883 - 36 6,748

The remunerations shown above represent remunerations
received from the Group by these directors in their
capacity as employees to the Group and no directors
waived any emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to the directors as compensation
for the early termination of the appointment during the
year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of the
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Group during the year (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024F3531H 1F F/Z

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2023: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in Note 25, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which directors of the Group had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of each
of the four years or at any time during the year (2023:
Nil).

(f) Five highest paid individuals

For each of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include the two (2023: two) directors, whose
emoluments were reflected in Note 9(a). The emoluments
paid to the remaining three (2023: three) individuals are as
follows:

9 EEFTARFZ@

(d) EEUES HBEBESES
WEZEREEERECERA
ZTRAZER  EERRHAM
REZER
RAFE HMENEE BHEHEES
THEEE N EEEHEEREA
TmAZER HEEFRHEMZH
(2023%F : f®) -

() EERNXSH - REEHEHNHH
ERER
BREIEE25 PRIRERE SN - AL EERT
VEAEEXGEREASEESEN
Heh B B ERER 20
8 4F 2 & F 5 R SR 5 2 R (] By A
MAFBNEAR S  RHERAH
(20234 : &) -

f) TEESHMAL
HE2024F K2023F3A31HIEFE
BF  AEBNRAERSTMALY
A EE24(2023F 1 2R )&E8F &
E2HE RN RER - 82 T35
(2023%F : 3%) AL D BIA0 T ¢

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A318ILEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Salaries, wages FehIE 1,801 1,839
Bonuses TE4T 220 576
Pension costs — defined contribution plan  iRR& kA — F B T2 54 54
2,075 2,469

2023/24 F3R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 E=E=F{EFRFZEH @)

(continued)

(f) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (f) AEREFMA L@
The emoluments of above individuals are within the it AT E TR A TEE :

following bands:

Year ended 31 March

HZE3A31ALFEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Emoluments band B < &6 &
Within HK$ 1,000,000 {E#21,000,0007% 7T 3 3
No incentive payment for joining the Group or RAFE  BERENAEE &S
compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to any AT R HEARBEANMAREE
of the five highest paid individuals during the year (2023: B RS Sk BRI B (20234 « &) -
Nil).
10 FINANCE INCOME, NET 10 BB AFE
Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31ALFEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Finance income: 207 T ONE
— Interest income from bank deposit —RERITEFEF BUA 2,287 1,006
Finance costs: BTGP
— Interest expense on borrowings —ERHIF SR (102) (513)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 15) —fHE& BEHFEFIX
(FfF5E15) (12) (27)
e N8 (540)
Finance income, net B NF 58 2,173 466
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11 FIS8iMxX

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A318ILEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT T
Current income tax BIHAFTIS 3,695 7,261
Deferred income tax (Note 16) FEIEATSTE(HI5E16) (4) 146
3,691 7,407

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the BVI-incorporated
subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI (2023: same).

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject
to Hong Kong profits tax. Hong Kong profits tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits during the year
(2023: 16.5%), except for one entity that is qualified under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, under which the first HK$2.0
million of its assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

RENSRERRBELRE ((REEL
BEDOHRALER  REBRLHES
MM B AR BAMNFESES R
358 55 20 BY 6 4 FE (0 8 4,(2023%F 48
) -

REBREBTMA AN B QR AR
MEBFEE - RAFE - HEFNESH
Tz {d 51 E AR B s M B9 16.5% ( 20234 -
165% )58 - fE—EEEHAEFEHRM
B BUHEERTEFNE20888 T
Tii28.25% T E - Mk T ERF & A AlliZ
16.5%+tH

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Profit before income tax B FT1S TR & A 22,760 56,735
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable %38 B R EEE M 2 EIAF R
to profits in Hong Kong B HIE 3,590 9,196
Tax effects of: NI BB MBE
Income not subject to tax BERTUMA = (3,025)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose TR 0RFA 929 1,240
Under-provision in prior year BEFERENE 2 8
Tax concession IR R = (12)
Income tax expense FriSfif 3,691 7,407

2023/24 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SREF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERZF HRARRES AR RF
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BRIARFEE FHTEBRIEEOEEE -

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

Profit attributable to owners of the Company A2 BB AFEMEEF

(HK$'000) (F#7T) 19,069 49,328
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 217 % g F 192K

in issue ("000) (TR0 1,000,000 868,493
Basic earnings per share (in HK cents) EFRREARZEF GBI 1.9 5.7
Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A31 A ILFEMNESREEEA
were the same as the basic earnings per share as there was no HERERZFNAER - THERF R &
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year TSN EEE B L @A (20234 « A8[) ©
(2023: same).

13 DIVIDEND 13 RE

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the RAFE - AR B ERME IR E IR
year (2023: Nil). B(2023%F - £#) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024F3531H 1F F/Z

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 BENRE
Office
equipment
and Motor
furniture Machinery vehicles Total
WARBRELE HeHR, RE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FBT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2022 20224818

Cost B 835 4,209 1,513 6,557
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (566) (3,069) (1,220) (4,855)
Net book amount BREFE 269 1,140 293 1,702

Year ended 31 March 2023  #%2023%3A31H

LEE
Opening net book amount FYEmMFE 269 1,140 293 1,702
Addition for the year FRRE 46 2,111 385 2,542
Depreciation charge (Note 7) & H (KiFE7) (144) (795) (192) (1,131)
Closing net book amount FARIREFE 171 2,456 486 3,113
At 31 March 2023 and M2023%E38318 K
1 April 2023 2023%4H1B

Cost B 881 6,222 1,521 8,624
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (710) (3,766) (1,035) (5,511)
Net book amount REFE 171 2,456 486 3,113

Year ended 31 March 2024  #Z202453831H

LFEE

Opening net book amount FYREEE 171 2,456 486 3,113

Addition for the year FARE 6 967 1,472 2,445

Depreciation charge (Note 7) FEZH (HEE7) (60) (1,211) (479) (1,750)
Closing net book amount FAREmFE 117 2,212 1,479 3,808

At 31 March 2024 M2024%3A31H

Cost AR 887 7,189 2,993 11,069

Accumulated depreciation ZETE (770) (4,977) (1,514) (7,261)
Net book amount REFE 117 2,212 1,479 3,808
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14 BERFRE@®

Depreciation of the Group’s plant and equipment are REBRE KR ETEWROT -
recognised as follows:

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FBTT
Cost of services BRFS AR 1,211 795
Administrative expenses THAX 539 336
Depreciation charge for the year FRTEER 1,750 1,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024F3531H 1F F/Z

15 LEASES 15 #HE
(a) EAEEE

(a) Right-of-use assets

Leased
premises
HEWE
HK$'000
FATT
At 1 April 2022 7202264818
Cost %N 985
Accumulated depreciation 2EHiTE (165)
Net book amount REVFE 820
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31BLFE
Opening net book amount FHHREFE 820
Depreciation charge (Note 7) Hreass i (EE7) (492)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 328
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 72023438318 K 2023F4H1A
Cost %N 985
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (657)
Net book amount REFE 328
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31BLLFE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 328
Addition NE 992
Depreciation charge (Note 7) Hreass i (EE7) (493)
Closing net book amount FRIEMFAE 827
At 31 March 2024 7A202453H31H
Cost %N 992
Accumulated depreciation REtTE (165)
Net book amount REFE 827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

15 LEASES (continued) 15 HE @)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued) (a) FHAREEE®@®
The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to FRAREERASBRERERER
use underlying leased premises under lease arrangements MENFERABHREMEOER - %
for 2 years. They are stated at cost less accumulated EEAREEDENIRETER
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. ZEHREEESE -
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
As at 31 March
MA3A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Current portion mENEL S 536 353
Non-current portion JEMENEL S 370 -
9206 353
Addition to the right-of-use assets during the year ended HZE2024F3A31BHILLFE AR
31 March 2024 was HK$992,000 (2023: Nil). B EEENN992,000/48 7T (20234 : £&) ©
As at 31 March 2024, the interest rate of each lease 202438310 - SFHES LR F
contracts is fixed at its contract date, and the interest RAHAYWBAHET  MEREARE
rate of all the lease liabilities was 4.3% (2023: 4.3%) per R FFIRE B4.3%(20234F 14.3%) °
annum.
The total cash outflows for leases including payments of RARNEENEER S RH A% (8IEE
short-term leases, lease liabilities and payments of interest HAENZK - HEABELBEENSH
expenses on leases for the year were approximately S #9/53,040,00078 7T (20234
HK$3,040,000 (2023: HK$5,707,000). 5,707,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

15 LEASES (continued) 15 HEw)

(c) Amount recognised in the consolidated () REBGEZTHEHBWARERNSEE
statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31HLFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets as FATTHRASZHEAREE
included in administrative expenses e 493 492

Interest expenses on lease liabilities for the FRAEEEF S
year (Note 10) (Ftz£E10) 12 27

Expenses relating to short-term leases B HEEF AR (GTA
(included in cost of services) (Note 7) BRAEACA) (M 5E7) 2,589 5,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

16 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 16 ELFIEHER

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when B B A TE 7] o9& B 1T 4 ) AT W = B ER PR
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income SHEREMAENEaERERERTME
tax recoverable against current income tax liabilities and when MEERBBEER — BN ZERT
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income BRI TRAERNEEBBKNAEHEH
tax levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable BEEBERERFHEEELEEASRE - A
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention BIEREFAENEERAE - HIESHEW
to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as N

follows:

As at 31 March

MA3H31H

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Deferred income tax liabilities, net EEFEREE  F5 316 320
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities, without RECETRAABREEERNKIELES - B

taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the TEFSHBEMNEEIT -

same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation
InEBIEITE
HK$'000
FA&T
At 1 April 2022 2022947318 174
Charged to the consolidated statement of Rire2EBARZH
comprehensive income 146
At 31 March 2023 7R2023F3A31H 320
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 320
Credited to the consolidated statement of FFALZEEEBAK
comprehensive income (4)
At 31 March 2024 202443 A31H 316
As at 31 March 2024, there is no significant unrecognised MR2024F3A31H » AEEWEAMEARR
deferred tax for the Group (2023: same). HERIRIERIIE (20234 - #H[A]) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024F3531H 1F F/Z

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17 RENEsHE@m TR

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT T

Assets as per consolidated statement of SREHERRKATEE
financial position
Financial assets measured at amortised cost RHENATENSREE

— Trade receivables (Note 18) — B ZEUGRE(ME18) 76,038 53,704
— Other receivables and deposits (excluding — EAb EWGIE Rz (T8

prepayments) (Note 18) EFEMFIE) (5E18) 4,672 5,642
— Amount due from immediate holding — R EEIER AR FRIA

company (Note 25(d)) (FF5E25(d)) 97 65
— Short-term bank deposit (Note 20) — R BRIRTTER (B5E20) 50,000 50,000
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) —R& MRS EEW(KIFE20) 31,871 47,942
Total st 162,678 157,353

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of AR RFATRER
financial position
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost Z#HK AT EN S RIAE

— Trade payables (Note 22) — & 5 ENFIE(MRE22) 33,230 21,870
— Accruals and other payables (excluding non-  — fE&t2 F3 K E b FE 1~ B
financial liabilities) (Note 22) (TBEEEEREE)
(BizE22) 18,720 15,984
- Bank borrowings (Note 23) — RITIE R (HI3E23) = 5,634
— Lease liabilities (Note 15(b)) —HEBEIFE15(0b)) 906 353
Total #Et 52,856 43,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 EFRHMEWTIR
(a) Trade receivables (a) EZEWFEIE
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T
Trade receivables B 5 EIGRIA 76,919 53,974
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (881) (270)
Trade receivables, net B SRR FRE 76,038 53,704
The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based B O RWHIABBEIEEREAHES 2
on invoice date is as follows: BRER DT -

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Within 30 days 30BAA 40,799 46,024
31-60 days 31£260H 20,304 7,093
Over 60 days 60H A E 15,816 857
76,919 53,974
The credit terms provided to customers range from RETEFPHNEESHNT148E60
14 days to 60 days. The Group's trade receivables are H - AEEMNESEWFIAETI ST
denominated in HK$ (2023: same). FHE(2023%F : 48R) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18 EZ Kk H b EWFIE @)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and (b) HMEWFIE - MERFBELR
prepayments b=

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHT

Prepayments for wet trades works YK TRRFER FE 70 70

Other prepayments HATAFRIA 200 618

Other receivables (Note) H A e Wk aE (BT ) 2,899 3,200

Interest income receivables FEUF B A 183 933

Deposits e 1,590 1,509

4,942 6,330

Less: Non-current deposits o IERBIRE (184) -

Current portion RENE D 4,758 6,330
Note:  The balance mainly represented advance payment paid Misy : T BEAAREEG TIEEHR=E
out by the Group in relation to the claims from work S RTEMRIE - B AEERE
accidents which is expected to be recovered by the TRRAIRG B8 & B AR R GE P A T HE LA
Group from the main contractors under the relevant K172 B0 B B Ie (2023

insurance policy and arrangements with the main F:R) -

contractors as well as industry practice (2023: same).

The Group's other receivables and deposits are INEE B HE i RN RIE R 1R S T AE
denominated in HK$ (2023: same). None of the other TEHE (20234 : M) o HEE 1 E
receivables and deposits was impaired. WhiE K14 HIREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19 X BEREHNAERE

LIABILITIES
Included in contract assets/(liabilities) are the following: FARHBE/(Aaf)WT
As at 31 March
M3H31R
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT

Contract assets ERNEE

Unbilled revenue REAZWA 125,121 127,878

Retention receivables for wet trades MR TIRIREE € (MFEC)

works (Note ¢) 89,950 69,516

Total contract assets BHEERE 215,071 197,394

Less: provision for impairment R ORERE (563) (549)

Contract assets, net BHEEFE 214,508 196,845

Contract liabilities aHatE (2,496) (3,076)

Notes: BisE -

(@)  The Group classifies these contract assets and liabilities as current (@) AEBEBZECNEERBESEAR
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating ) ARAEEEEEESKEEHA
cycle. SRR o

(b)  The settlement analysis of unbilled revenue and contract liabilities b) FKAFRWAREGHNBERBEABEES
based on project cycle was as follows: T

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET Tt
Unbilled revenue: RAZWA
To be recovered within twelve months B+ @Az A"ukE 125,121 127,878
Contract liabilities: afarE:
To be recognised within twelve months #Er+ @A 2 REER (2,496) (3,076)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z20243 531 H 1F F/Z

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Retention receivables are settled in accordance with the terms of
the respective contracts. The terms and conditions in relation to
the release of retention vary from contract to contract, which is
subject to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability
period or a pre-agreed time period. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, retention receivables were classified as
current assets based on its normal operating cycle. The settlement
analysis of these retention receivables based on the terms of
related contracts was as follows:

19 EHNEEREGNEE®

BeE - (%)

@ RBURFREEREZEENERTIUNEE -
IR RE SMERRIFTRFEEH(FR
BEB T - G E R E R TR E B
fE)MAMTRE - Riragikss
ERAEBENEREEBEMDEARD
BE - ENARE NGEFTNZERKIRE
SHEEINIT

As at 31 March

M3HA31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
To be recovered within twelve months B+ — @ B A= 41,891 27,676
To be recovered more than twelve months after ¥R ERE+ &AL L
the end of the year U [g] 48,059 41,840
89,950 69,516
Significant changes in contract assets and EHNEERABBNEREH

liabilities

Contract assets have increased as the Group has provided
more construction services ahead of the right to payment upon
receiving certification from quality surveyors for construction
contracts. The Group also applied the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for contract assets. Please refer to Note 3.1(a)(ii) for the
impairment of assets.

Contract liabilities for the construction contracts decreased
(2023: increased) due to the decrease (2023: increase) in
receipt in advance on overall contract activities.

2023/24 3R

RN AEBREE TR SRMEREAL
M ERER N RN Z AR E 22
% BRENEEBMIEM - AEBETTE
RE RN BHREERIEIRATHNMET
EMBHEERRELEE - ZEANRF
AN EERAEURBEBRER - B
BERE - F2HEME3. 1)

BEANNEHEEEITRA(2023F « 1
) ThERREBEALESNTEREIER S
(20234 : #&h0)
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19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

Accounting policies of contract assets and
contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
from customers in exchange for the provision of wet trades
works that the Group has transferred to the customers that is
not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when the Group
has provided the wet trades works and other wet trades
related ancillary works under the relevant contracts but the
works have yet to be certified by architects, quantity surveyors
or other representatives appointed by the customers and/or the
Group's right to payment is still conditional on factors other
than passage of time. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point
when the Group’s right to payment becomes unconditional
other than passage of time.

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered into
with customers, the Group is required to submit to customers
payment applications for the value of work done under
the contracts along with any variation orders performed.
Customers will settle normally in 14-60 days after certifying
the monthly payment applications based on their assessment of
work done by the Group. Customers usually retain an amount
up to 10% of the value of work done, subject to a maximum
limit of 5% of the contract sum as retention money for the
contract. The terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract, which is subject
to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability period
and the discussion of final accounts.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of financial assets
carried at amortised cost.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
the aforesaid services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

19 EHEBEREHNEB@W

BHEERGHNABNETEE

AHEEREAEEEREREFEIMAR
B WBRAEECERE TEEmEARK
BEGERRKTREEE - 8 AEEIRE
HEEAQEBE TR TR R EMEKEBEE
ETR - EIRMRBEEMN  THRAZE
M EPZAMEMRRRBER - &%
EAEENMZEFNNEEAXR(GRIEEER
LM 2 BB GAGE - GHEERESE -
A EAIERAENEENSERAER
WCER A SR HE R 2 A AR (BRI RS
WIN EFHEEE FEWRA -

RIBEREPFILANNGRR  AEEAR
RIBEA A TR TIRER FAETTAEMR
FIRESZEBENTFPREIMNREAE
BEP—BEBRIRBREFEARETHRT
BOFERES AN RERRI4AE60KE
TRE  FPBEERETHEBE KT
REEMNI0%SB(ENATBEENTERN
5%)MEREHNRES - BRABEMRESR
MR R ERFEEHOME - HEURRER
BT - REERESMNER - ARERER
B AR

BHEBERABIEKATIRNEBEER
ey R RDRUE RHE 77 S FHA R E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20 RERRESZEEYLARELET

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSIT (S
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 31,871 47,942
Short-term bank deposit (Note) REHASRI TR SR (P 7E) 50,000 50,000
81,871 97,942
Maximum exposure to credit risk FrEN R ERER 81,841 97,892
Note:  Interest rates of short-term bank deposit are approximately M5t RERRITIF A FFIE 4 44.36% (2023
4.36% (2023: 4.6%) per annum. F46%)-°
All cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposit are FrER e KRB SSFEBYMUREBRRITER
denominated in HK$ (2023: same). TyAFSTTEHE (20234 < MHME]) °
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash e ReRERT  REKREEED
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with BEFERS  FRARTHENERRR
banks and bank deposit with original maturities of three AEHBER=EASERHRITER °

months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

21 SHARE CAPITAL, CAPITAL RESERVE AND 21 BRZA - RARERFE
RESERVES
Share capital

&N

Equivalent
Number of nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares share
EERHE ETEREESE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EE
As at 1 April 2022 R2022%4718 50,000,000 500
Increase in authorised share capital VETERR ARG AN (I FED
(Note i) 9,950,000,000 99,500
Balance at 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 202393 A31H * 20234
31 March 2024 4718 K%2024F3A31H
10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued: BR81T :
As at 1 April 2022 7202254 H11 39,000,000 390
Issuance of shares pursuant to RARE (LB TR (T
the capitalisation (Note ii) 711,000,000 7,110
Issuance of shares pursuant to the IPO BIEERARBEEEITRD
(Note iii) 250,000,000 2,500
Balance at 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 7202393 H31H * 2023F
31 March 2024 4H18 K%2024F3A31H
1,000,000,000 10,000

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholder passed on 13
September 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$500,000 to HK$100,000,000 by the
creation of additional 9,950,000,000 shares with par value of

HK$0.01 each.

(i) Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholder passed on 13
September 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
711,000,000 shares, credited as fully paid at par, to Evolve Billion
Limited on 10 October 2022 by way of capitalisation of the sum
of HK$7,110,000 standing to the credit of the share premium

account of the Company.

(i) On 10 October 2022, the Company's shares have been listed on
the HKSE by issuing 250,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each at
a price of HK$0.5 per share for a total cash consideration, before
deducting underwriting commission and expenses relating to the

issue of new shares, of HK$125,000,000.
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

22 BEZ R EMENRE

As at 31 March

M3H31H

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHxT FHET

Trade payables B SRR FE 33,230 21,870
Accruals and other payables FE&H B R R E At FE A~ 508

— Accruals for subcontractors’ labour cost —EET DB TR 16,282 13,718

— Accrued staff cost —EEFE TR 2,766 2,631

— Other accruals and payables —Hih g B8R MEMNFUE 2,773 2,601

21,821 18,950

55,051 40,820

The trade and other payables are denominated in HK$ and the
carrying amounts approximate their fair values (2023: same).

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date
is as follows:

Within 30 days 30HA

B hEMENFKIAET ST E - BR
EEEE N HERE (20235 : #HA)

B RMNFERBEZABNERR TN
™

As at 31 March
MA3A31A
2024 2023
20234
HK$'000

T

20245
HK$'000
FHT

33,230 21,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

23 BANK BORROWINGS

B - BIEAE
—EHER

Current, secured
— Term loans

23 RITEM

As at 31 March
MA3H31H
2024 2023
20234
HK$’000
THIT

20245
HK$'000
FHT

= 5,634

The term loans are denominated in HK$ and bear interest at
floating rates that are market dependent.

(@ The table below analyses the bank borrowings of the
Group into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the year end to the contractual
maturity date without taking into consideration the effect
of repayment on demand clause.

Bank borrowings repayable: EEBITHER
Within one year —F A

EHERTIABTTAHE - WIRMIHEER
HEHEETE -

@ TRARFRHTHEZEANIHAN
SEZMEBZIHNBEARE D HRTTE
R - B EET IR BESRKEE K
RHTE -

As at 31 March
MA3A31A
2024 2023
20234
HK$'000
FAET

20245
HK$’000
TR

= 5,634

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings
approximate their fair values. As at 31 March 2023, the
weighted average interest rates are 5.26% per annum.

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s banking
facilities are as follow:

(i)  Overdraft facility amounting to HK$15,000,000
guaranteed by Mr. KS Chan and secured by a
property owned by Mr. KS Chan.

(i)  Revolving loan facility amounting to HK$4,000,000
guaranteed by Mr. KS Chan, Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited and HKMC Insurance Limited.
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(b) MEZE2023F3A31HILFE » K&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

23 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 23 RITER @
(c) For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's banking (0 MREZE2024F3H3MBLEFE &%
facilities are as follow: ERITEELAT ¢
(i)  Overdraft facility amounting to HK$15,000,000 () 2% 15,000,000 7T HAR
guaranteed by corporate guarantee of the Company. AIEV R AR IEEIR ©
The Group has the following undrawn bank facilities REERRROBITHE (RIERITE
consisting of bank overdrafts and revolving loan: XRBREFONAT

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T

Floating rate FEYF R 15,000 29,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

24 HEREER
(a) wRAARS :

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

(a) Cash used in operations:

Year ended 31 March

176

BE3H31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FAT

Profit before income tax expense FTiS i Z AR 22,760 56,735
Adjustments for: BATSIEFAE
Depreciation of plant and equipment R SRR i E 1,750 1,131
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREESENE 493 492
Finance income BATEURA (2,287) (1,006)
Finance costs IR IDWIN 114 540
Gain on disposal on plant and HEBE &R EREFE

equipment, net = (8)
Impairment on trade receivables and B RWHIBREHNEER

contract assets A 625 439
Operating profit before changes in LIEECBHALEET

working capital 23,455 58,323
Changes in working capital: LBELEE) -
Increase in contract assets BHEEE N (17,677) (66,908)
Increase in trade and other receivables, H 5 REAEWSIA -« Re

deposits and prepayments NIBFRIEIG N (22,307) (19,530)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, B ENFIE - EETER K

accruals and other payables Hofth e <RIBS 0,

CRiA) 14,231 (7,807)

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities ~— &XBECHL), LN (580) 2,189
Net cash used in operations EEFTAIRE FHE (2,878) (33,733)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) 24 REREER @
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceed from (b) WA BERERKN  LEHENK
disposals of plant, and equipment comprise: HHFTRRIA R -

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAIT
Net book amount (Note 14) BREFE(HE14) = -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, HERE K& EHW S FE5
net = 8
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEMFE MR EFTSHIE
equipment = 8
(c) Cash flow information - financing activities (c) REREEN —RETH
The movements of liabilities from financing activities for RIT2IMESBHCRESZBEELES
each of the periods presented: B
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE MEZBMELNEE
Cash and cash Lease
equivalents Borrowings liabilities Total
Rek
REZEY R HEss o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TR TR T
As at 31 March 2023 1202343A431H 47,942 5,634 353 5,987
Cash flows RENE (16,071) (5,736) (451) (6,187)
Non-cash movements: FRLEE:
Addition NE - - 992 992
Interest expenses MEFX - 102 12 114
As at 31 March 2024 2024434310 31,871 - 906 906
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 220244331 H 1 F/Z

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) 24 BEREER @
(c) Cash flow information - financing activities () REREER —METSH @)

(continued)

Other assets
EfEE af
Cash Accruals for
andcash  Short-term Lease  Amount due listing
equivalents  bank deposit Total  Borrowings liabilities toadirector ~ expenses
g ER-%  LARX
2EEN  BEs &35 f3 B EFE
HK$'000 i HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B i TER THL Thr BT
As at 31 March 2022 2022438318 27,546 - 27,546 - 863 10,741 4,85 16,45
Cash flows Reng 20,3% 50,000 70,3% 5121 (537) - (6,050) (1,466)
Repayment to a director A—%EZE - - - - - (10.741) - (10,741)
Non-cash movements; %Y
Interest expenses FlERx - - - 513 7 - - 540
Accruals for lsting expenses TR
23 - - - - - - 1,198 1,198
As at 31 March 2023 R202353A318 47942 50,000 97,942 5,634 353 - - 5987
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 220243 H31H I F/Z

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 25 BEHMARS

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party M— A BN EFEREEE RN EE NI
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant RGERBITHRERTEN  ZHEER
influence over the Group in making financial and operating HAREEFME - BB AR REAGIEE
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members EEAE  FERFER " LEELRRE
of key management personnel, significant shareholder and/ KE)SHEMER  BREIAEEFEARE
or their close family members) or other entities and include TERZENER - ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ HED:E
entities which are under the significant influence of related | - TR A R

parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common

control.

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the (a) ARBABERBUTINS RAAE
following parties/companies were related parties that had MAFEERREBER H AR H
transactions or balances with the Group during the year: B

Name of related parties Relationship with the Group

BEE ER BEA S BB

Mr. KS Chan Controlling shareholder, director of the Group and Chairman
BRIBAR ST ERIRR - AEEEEREF

Mr. WP Chan Controlling shareholder and director of the Group

BRACF S R R AEEES

Ms. Chan Chui Ying Daughter of Mr. KS Chan & Ms. Tsang

PRE2 /M BREREERG LT 2K

Mr. Chan Chun Wai Son of Mr. WP Chan

PR EA L ST 4 BRACE S 2 F

(b) The following transactions were carried out with related (b) AT 5Ty ERRIREHHETT
parties:

Save as disclosed in Note 9 of this report, the following BARE M FORMIEEEI - LIRS
transactions were carried out with related parties: T e g g

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET F#T

Salaries and pension costs paid to: WJ//(—I—XFFFrﬁﬁEI'J%TfE&
RIRE A

Ms. Chan Chui Ying [R22 B/ NE 513 694

Mr. Chan Chun Wai PREEL ST 4 551 565
The transactions were conducted in the normal course RETRNEFEBRIERRAEERR
of business at prices and terms as agreed between the AR 7 < [0 TE B (B AR SR R PTHETT ©

Group and the related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 25 BEEA RS m

(c) Key management compensation (c) FEEEEMS
Key management includes the executive directors of TEERERBEASERNTES - 3t
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key EBERBENXENEIEEEEWS
management for employee services is disclosed in Note 9. BERR RO

(d) Amount due from immediate holding (d) EWEZEERARRIE
company
Particulars of amount due from immediate holding JEUW E AR A R FIEMFFIBT ¢

company are as follows:

HK$'000
TAT

Balance at 31 March 2024 202453 A31 BMEEH 97
Balance at 31 March 2023 20233 A31 BHA & 65
As at 31 March 2024, non-trade receivables balances from 202438310 EEZRARS
immediate holding company were unsecured, interest- B FEBGKIBLERBEER 28
free and repayable on demand and approximate their fair BRERER  RANEAQTERE
values (2023: same). (20234 : #8[R]) °

As at 31 March 2024, the balance with immediate holding MR2024%3 8318 » EEER AR
company is denominated in HK$ (2023: same). BB TTEHE(20234 - MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z20243 531 H 1F F/Z

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 ZA&2ARMBAMRRE
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
202445 20234

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Pt FHT THT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  WHBARMERE W 1982 101,592
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and Prepayments H b pE R IE RIB IR 245 1,076
Amount due from a subsidiary e — M E R I FUA 26,271 15,000
Short-term bank deposit MHIRITIER 50,000 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 20,865 29,429

97,381 95,505
Total assets EEHAE 199,363 197,097
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of AATEBE AELER
the Company

Share capital [i&N 10,000 10,000
Capital reserve BARGE (i) 101,592 101,592
Share premium 10 m(E (i) 105,356 105,356
Accumulated losses ZETEE (i) (23,163) (23,200)
Total equity EREE 193,785 193,748
LIABILITIES af&
Current liabilities REaE
Accruals fEstE A 74 8
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAS — AR B A B 5E 5,504 3,341
Total liabilities BEHEE 5,578 3,349
Total equity and liabilities BEREERAE 199,363 197,097

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2024 and was

signed on its behalf.

EE=S 0N 2024F6 A24B#EER D RIF AR
X THUTEERERERE -

Chan Kiu Sum Chan Wing Ping
BRAS AR BR K S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & F2024F3 431 H 1 F/Z

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 A2 REMBEMRRE @

THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

(i)  Subsidiaries

BT -

U]

The following is a list of the subsidiaries held directly or indirectly
by the Company at 31 March 2024 and 2023:

Name of subsidiaries

WEARERE

Direct Interests
B#ER
Ying Ying Company Limited

BRARLE

Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited
BBARRT

GC Cambodia Limited (Note)
GC Cambodia Limited (FfzF)

Indirect Interests

HEER

Chan Kiu Construction Decoration
Engineering Limited

REBRERKEHTIRERAR

Ying Wai (Chan Kiu) Construction
Engineering Co., Limited

BB (RR) LK TIRERAR

Note:
during the year.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Place of incorporation/
establishment, operations and
type of legal entity
KL/ R - #ESHR

EERERR

The BVI, limited liability company

RERAEE  BROA

The BVI, limited liability company
RBRLRE  BRAR

The BV, limited liability company
RERLRE  ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

B8 ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BB ARRF

Issued and fully
paid up capital

ERTRARRA

United States
Dollars ("US$")
1,000
1,000% 7T
(I%x))

Us$1,000
1,000%7T

US$50,000
50,000%7T

HK$10
1087
HK$10

10/87T

It was a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the BVI

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

iyEsyN

AN BN TN 20244F 20233 A31H
EESHEEFENHBARRE

Attributable equity

interest to the Group Principal activities

FEEEGRE
2024 2023

20245 2023

EL_E 3

100% 100%  Investment holding

RERR

100% 100%  Investment holding

100% - Investment holding

RERR

100% 100%  Provision of wet trades
works

REEKIE

100% Provision of wet trades
works

REURKTR

100%

M. HEARNFRNERBRELEEEM

R EME AT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F3 431 A 1FF/E

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 A& RIETFARRE @0
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued) BsE - (8)
(i) The reserves movement of the Company is as follows: (i) AATBEESHNOT
Capital Share  Accumulated

reserve premium losses Total

BEX G RRE Rt ER ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
: FET Fi5T :

(Ff&E)

Balance at 1 April 2022 202254 A1 B R &5 101,592 - (16,182) 85,410
Loss for the year FRERE - - (7,018) (7,018)
Shares issued in the Initial Public ~ R & X AFZEE ([ &R AH

Offerings (“IPO") BE DBEITORN - 122,500 - 122,500
Capitalisation issue of shares Mt B AL BT - (7,110) - (7.110)
Share issuance costs AR BATR AR - (10,034) - (10,034)
Balance at 31 March 2023 and ~ 72023F3A31H K

1 April 2023 2023F4 81 HEEES 101,592 105,356 (23,200) 183,748
Loss for the year FNEE - - 37 37
Balance at 31 March 2024 R20244%3 831 A M4 101,592 105,356 (23,163) 183,785
Note:  The capital reserve of the Group represented combined Mzt : AEENERNFHEENEETHRE

share capital of the companies now comprising the WA AEENEER RSO

Group upon the completion of the reorganisation. AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 EMBEE XS BEHRE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

27.1 Subsidiaries 2.1 BB A E]
27.1.1Consolidation VIARY =3 3=

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

(1= PNCIE RN S IR ey Spza ]
BHNERS(BREBLEER) -
EAKER2EZERMAIER]
ORGSR S Y
o WHENEBHEHZERS
MENFE M FEERE - AEH
BIfRHIZE R - B A E IR E
HEEREAKEE BREAA
B URERIRELLERETE
HAARK -

SERNNRARIBERS « BHRkE
BARIRR B RERKAS T
il - RIERZHAEEBBRA
BREELTME  SRIKRER
BRITEHH - WBARIMER
BRENTEREIFLAE) - A
PRELZRSR BB M BUR — 2

27.12Separate financial statements 27.12 BB 7

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwvill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
27.2 Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Group that
makes strategic decisions.

21.3 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the "functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements is presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

2023/24 F3R

27.2 DERERE

REDBIARRFERLERRER
RABRE-BONDAZR - ARED
FRERMFGEENHRANTIES
ERRERRBFRRBIERERNA
SERTES -

273 I E

(a) DHEEHRIFHEH
AEEEEERNGFEVBRER
FrolEBEANZEREEMTE
MEBEERBNEE([TEEE
BFTE - MEMBHRERIAET
(TET) 2% - BLR/ARRAH
WREEBRIIHREHR -

(b) X5 K45
SNER ZIRA R 5 E B BRITE
RMERNERR - BREBEFR
7 B O BE S WA e 5 1R A K 5t
DONEEHERM BB EEME E N
FRERBEESNE LKA
BEEGEZEBRARTHER -

ONEIZ N ERTERIFEHIA
BIRREE QT EE HNERE

H o
Ea
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

274 Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs net of their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Office equipment and furniture 5 years
Machinery 3 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for

215 kEmEERE
R EN A B RER S BT

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

27.6 Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as at
amortised cost only if both of the following criteria
are met:

(@) The asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows;
and

(b) The contractual terms give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest.

Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition. The Group
reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing the assets changes.

If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or
less they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. The Company’s
and the Group's financial assets comprise trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount
due from immediate holding company, short-term
bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents.
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276 REE

(a /'\7k
ZIR%I@)‘EADAT{IM%’M%{WT
TeRETREED RSN
FXANEHE

(@) EEINBEHSKEA DR
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) ARFEFEENRERER
RARE RFEN -

EEERVGAEARETERE
ERNDRE - ARERBERE
REEENEHREAZEGR TS
B0 BEEHRE -

BHE — F AR BRI FIE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
27.6 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Recognition and derecognition

(c)

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial asset carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and presented in “other gains/(losses)”. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27.6 Financial assets (continued) 27.6 TRLEE (®)
(d) Impairment (d) HBiE

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and retention receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including
deposits and other receivables, management
considers that their credit risks have not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to
the counterparty historical default rate and current
financial position. The impairment provision is
determined based on the 12-month expected credit
losses which is close to zero.
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(e) Derecognition (e) AR
The Group derecognises a financial assets, if the part i1 Z BAR L HERAER D M2 T 5

being considered for derecognition meets one of
the following conditions: (i) the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire;
or (i) the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
of the financial asset have been transferred, and
the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or (iii)
the Group retains the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to the
eventual recipient in an agreement that meets all
the conditions of de-recognition of transfer of cash
flows (“pass through” requirements) and transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBEBRE @)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27.6 Financial assets (continued) 27.6 EREE @)
(e) Derecognition (continued) (e) AL (@)

Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety
meets the criteria for derecognition, the difference
between the two amounts below is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

—  the carrying amount of the financial asset
transferred; and

—  the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognised directly in equity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
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27.7 Financial liabilities 27 B E
(a) Recognition and measurement (a) EERE

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities
at amortised cost. Financial liabilities at amortised
cost are recognised initially at fair value net of
transaction costs incurred and subsequently stated
at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds
net of transaction costs and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the
financial liabilities using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities. Borrowings
are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
21.7 Financial liabilities (continued)
(b) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expired. When an existing financial liability
is replaced by another from the same lender
on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such as exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

27.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
27.9 Trade and other receivables

27 HBEE

27.9

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See Note 3.1(b)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

21.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

21.11 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2112 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the period-end
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 HE#tZEEE XS HEHRE@
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
21.13 Borrowing costs

.13 B A

General borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

2114 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year is the tax
payable on the current year’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBEBRE @)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

27.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 27.14 BNEA R IEAE Fr 588 (@)
(b) Deferred income tax (b) EALFFE

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21.15 Employee benefits 2.5 EEEF
(a) Retirement benefit obligations (a) BIKIEF#EIE
The Group operates a defined contribution REEHET BT HFERSIM

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) which is registered under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Both the Group and the staff are required to
contribute 5% of the employees’ relevant income
with a ceiling of HK$1,500 per month to the MPF
scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
in a separately administered fund. The Group's
contributions to the MPF scheme are expensed as
incurred.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contribution has been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

(b) Bonus

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(c) Long service payments

The Group's employees in Hong Kong who
have completed the required number of years of
services to the Group are eligible for long service
payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of the termination of their
employment, provided that such termination meets
the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance.

A provision is recognised in respect of the probable
future long service payments expected to be made.
The provision is based on the best estimate of the
probable future payments which have been earned
by the employees from their services to the Group up
to the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2116 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

21.17 Earnings per share

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares.

e by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2117 Earnings per share (continued)

2.7 BIRER (@)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

e the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

21.18 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Such determination is made on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement,
regardless of whether the arrangements take the legal
form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises and motor vehicles.

Leases are initially recognised as a right-of-use asset
and corresponding liability at the date of which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%3 431 H1-F/E

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21.18 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or
arate;

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option; and

lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive
received;

any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # 22024331 H 1 F/Z

27 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 27 E#BEEASHBERE @)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21.18 Leases (continued) 2718 FHE (@)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise of
printers and photocopiers.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based
on their relative stand-alone prices and accounts for
separately.

Some of the property leases include extension options.
These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing contracts. The extension options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor. The Group considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option in determining the lease
term. The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects
the assessment.

2119 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated and
company financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the financial statements are authorised for
issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting event and are not
recognised as liability at the end of the reporting period.

21.20 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2023/24 F3R

HIGHHEMEEEEERESRREN
NHREREERRFAX - RHEE
TR 12ERFATHEE - KE
EEEBIRITEM KRG EN -

e eEsHERIFFHEMAKREED
AEERBEREBINERBEL
FHRESEEHEMIFEERD

W FARR °

HOMEREBEEEE - LEF R
#EE@ W ERAREIES

EBNELE - BHEREHAEEMN
%ﬁ@ﬁﬁAﬁ@ AEBEREMA
SEEREAANEEREBR  RE
SEHRITEERE - WEBLERE
AR EARE M RIERNEREL
Al YR EETTES -

«LAJJ IJE
AN ﬂﬁ’ﬂﬂx%ﬁ?ﬂﬁ&%ﬁéﬂi%ﬁ%
=(fHE ‘*)ﬁt}ﬁﬂxgﬁﬁfﬁﬂ’]i
A BSHREARANERA—IBBE

TSR o B 1R B 0 Bt %5 S ok JEE I 4 ) 3%
AIEBERE R ZBERIERIARE
HRE ATerHmEHRERLA

& o

2120 RS WA

HEIHK AT ENEREEMN S
AERERFREAFH 750#?/:.\%@
WARFER S EMUAR — B

MEBRAREBERNEXERESREE
FREAEMERL  EERERER
5@2@9@@%@%&%9\\ ° BLHIREE R
EMSREEMNS  BERMNXEAE
@%ﬂ%ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ(?ﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁf&)

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

199



SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
I ERBIE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ~ NEREHFIFEEEANEED TIEFEHRSZAAE
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BBRFEENEENEEABRE - NEEI TFE
published financial statements, is set out as below. This summary — BEEZIAFHRE 2 5B °

does not form part of the audited financial statements.

2024 2023 2022 pAVA 2020

20244 2023F 2022 20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx FAT FAT FAT FAET

Revenue WA 585,170 541,648 456,432 440,369 513,154

Cost of services ARFE AR A (543,327)  (476,127)  (398,744)  (386,447)  (467,153)

Gross profit EF 41,843 65,521 57,688 53,922 46,001

Other income HAb A 102 18,743 592 19,628 208

Administrative expenses TEAY (20,733) (20,605) (12,087) (11,197) (14,041)

Listing expenses FHREY - (6,951) (7,642) (8,538) -
(Impairment losses)/reversal 2 ERZTER AL
of impairment loss on trade BECREESE)/

receivables and contract assets SHEEBERED (625) (439) 360 (216) (220)

Operating profit R 20,587 56,269 38,911 53,599 31,948

Finance income/(costs), net BN/ (R ) 348 2,173 466 (139) (809) (1,275)

Profit before income tax expense XTS5 58 S A& Al 22,760 56,735 38,772 52,790 30,673

Income tax expense TSR (3,691) (7,407) (7,478) (6,751) (4,863)

Profit and total comprehensive ~ KA REEAELEE
income for the year attributable  HEAR 2 EWALE
to owners of the Company 19,069 49,328 31,294 46,039 25,810

As at 31 March

R=A=+—-H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET TET THET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FREEE 4,819 3,441 2,695 1,986 2,180
Current assets TEEE 379,769 354,886 196,477 185,263 175,534
Total assets EEMAE 384,588 358,327 199,172 187,249 177,714
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 686 320 527 176 492
Current liabilities mEaE 58,083 51,257 56,189 75,911 112,489
Total liabilities B8 58,769 51,577 56,716 76,087 112,981
Total equity A 325,819 306,750 142,456 111,162 64,733
Total liabilities and equity BEREREE 384,588 358,327 199,172 187,249 177,714
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